# Master Thesis Report

Ex-Ante Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of Membrane Distillation-Crystallization for Lithium Extraction



Universiteit Utrecht



ADVANCED MINING TECHNOLOGY CENTER

# **HIDR** SINERGIA

October 15<sup>th</sup>, 2022 Johnny Bonk 2930136 MSc Thesis Sustainable Development (GEO4-2321) <u>j.p.bonk@students.uu.nl</u> <u>johnpbonk@gmail.com</u>

Copernicus Institute of Sustainable Development, Utrecht University

Supervision Dr. Gert Jan Kramer, Utrecht University Dr. Blanca Corona Bellostas, Utrecht University MSc. Giovanni Cecchetto AMTC Supervision MSc. Simon Diaz-Quesada

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Gert Jan Kramer and Dr. Blanca Corona Bellostas for taking the time to supervise this project and provide guidance. I would like to thank Giovanni Cecchetto for providing the opportunity with HidroSinergia to study the lithium industry and collaborate with AMTC. A special thanks to Dr. Humberto Estay and MSc. Simon Diaz-Quesada at AMTC for their hospitality in Santiago as well as their patience and willingness to provide expertise for process modeling in this project. I would like to thank Vanessa Schenker for providing insight into lithium extraction LCAs early on during my research. I would like to thank Mudit Chordia who provided advice and clarification about different matters related to lithium extraction LCAs.

# Abstract

Lithium is an energy-critical-element (ECE) that is a fundamental component of lithium-ion batteries which are projected to surge in demand in the coming years to meet the rising demand for battery electric vehicles (BEVs), variable renewable energy storage systems (RESS) and personal electronics. Supplying the projected amount of lithium for lithium-ion batteries in the near future is challenging due to the geographical concentration of lithium reserves and resources, complexity of recovering lithium from brines and the environmental impacts associated with lithium extraction in general. Several emerging technologies are being investigated to determine if they can provide additional lithium production capacity with improved efficiency and applicability to varying brine chemical compositions.

In this study, membrane distillation-crystallization (MCr) is investigated as a potentially environmentally preferable alternative to the current lithium extraction process from continental brines. An ex-ante life cycle assessment (LCA) was conducted to measure the potential environmental impacts of using MCr as an alternative to the brine inspissation process. The midpoint impact assessment methodologies used were global warming potential (GWP), water use, acidification potential (AP), resource use (metals and minerals) and cumulative energy demand (CED). To conduct the study, an early-stage lab study of MCr by (Cerda et al., 2021) for lithium recovery was scaled using processing modeling at the Advanced Mining Technology Center in Chile to create a life cycle inventory (LCI) of MCr in addition to an annual operational mass and energy balance. The MCr LCI was coupled with existing datasets for Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production to model a theoretical MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production facility and measure the environmental impacts associated with producing the functional unit (FU) of 1 ton Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>.

Additionally, a narrative literature review was conducted to determine the current environmental impacts associated with brine inspissation in the Salar de Atacama, Chile. A second narrative literature review was conducted to determine the criteria upon which an improved lithium extraction technique can be measured. Lastly, the land use, land use intensity (LUI) and production intensity of the current brine inspissation route and the MCr route were explored.

The most salient results of this study indicate that an MCr lithium extraction facility has the potential to produce the equivalent of 100 kilotons Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 76 kilotons of potassium chloride (KCl) and 14 megatons of freshwater per year with an annual raw brine input of 22 megatons per year. This results in a 64% water recovery efficiency and 75% lithium recovery efficiency. However, the main drawbacks are the exceptional amount of energy required which amounts to 5.43 TWh per year and would require approximately 50 km<sup>2</sup> of land if powered by solar photovoltaic (PV) energy. The other main drawback found was that the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production route had 4.5 times the amount of GWP than the brine inspissation route and 2.5 times the GWP when using 100% solar PV for electricity supply. Lastly, considering MCr uses 94% less water than the brine inspissation route, it is a trade-off worth further evaluation and future research.

# List of Abbreviations

ADP	Abiotic Depletion Potential
AE	Accumulated Exceedance
AP	Acidification Potential
AMTC	Advanced Mining Technology Center
AGMD	Air Gap Membrane Distillation
AWARE	Available Water Remaining
BEV	Battery Electric Vehicle
PSAB	Biotic Environmental Monitoring Program
MgCl <sub>2</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O	Bischofite
CaSO <sub>4</sub>	Calcium Sulfate
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide
CF	Characterization Factor
CL	Chile
CED	Cumulative Energy Demand
DOD	Department of Defense
DCMD	Direct Contact Membrane-Distillation
DLE	Direct Lithium Extraction
ECE	Energy Critical Element
EF	Environmental Footprint
EoL	End-of-Life
FU	Functional Unit
GJ	Gigajoule
GLO	Global
GWP	Global Warming Potential
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GREET	GHGs, Regulated Emissions, and Energy Use in Technologies Model
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IEA	International Energy Agency
ISO	International Standards Organization
KMgCL <sub>2</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> 0	K-Carnallite
kt	kilotons
kWh	kilowatt-hour
LULUCC	Land Use & Land Cover Change
LUI	Land Use Intensity
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LCIA	Life Cycle Impact Assessment
LCI	Life Cycle Inventory
Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	Lithium Carbonate
LCE	Lithium Carbonate Equivalent
LDH	Lithium-aluminum layered double hydroxide chloride
LiOH	Lithium Hydroxide
LiOH∙H₂	Lithium Hydroxide Monohydrate

Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>	Magnesium Hydroxide		
MRL	Manufacturing-Readiness-Level		
MCr-PV	MCr coupled with PV electricity		
MJ	Megajoule		
Mtons	Megatons		
MWh	Megawatt-hour		
MD	Membrane Distillation		
MCr	Membrane Distillation-Crystallization		
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index		
PM	Particulate Matter		
PV	Photovoltaic		
PP	Polypropylene		
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene		
PVC	Polyvinyl Chloride		
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride		
KCI	Potassium Chloride		
$K_2SO_4$	Potassium Sulfate		
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses		
RESS	Renewable Energy Storage Systems		
RoW	Rest of World		
RBMP	River Basin Management Plan		
SdA	Salar de Atacama		
SQM	Sociedad Química & Minera		
NaCl	Sodium Chloride		
SWE	Surface Water Extent		
SGMD	Sweep Gas Membrane Distillation		
SLR	Systematic Literature Review		
TEA	Techno-Economic Assessment		
TRL	Technology-Readiness-Level		
TWh	Terawatt-hour		
t	tons		
TDS	Total Dissolved Solids		
TWS	Total Water Storage		
TWSA	Total Water Storage Anomaly		
US	United States		
USGS	United States Geological Survey		
VMD	Vacuum Membrane Distillation		

# Contents

Al	ostract.		
Li	st of Ab	brevi	ations4
1	Intro	oduct	ion11
	1.1	Back	ground11
	1.2	MCr	Benefits
	1.3	Prev	ious Lithium LCA Literature13
	1.4	Prob	lem Definition13
	1.5	Rese	arch Aims13
	1.6	Scop	9e14
	1.7	Rese	arch Questions
	1.8	Rele	vance15
	1.9	Rese	earch Structure15
2	Theo	oretic	al Background
	2.1	Life	Cycle Assessment
	2.1.2	1	LCA Strengths & Benefits17
	2.1.2	2	LCA Challenges & Limitations17
	2.2	Ex-A	nte Life Cycle Assessment
	2.2.2	1	Ex-Ante LCA Strengths & Benefits
	2.2.2	2	Ex-Ante LCA Challenges & Limitations19
	2.2.3	3	Ex-Ante LCA Problem-Solving Strategies19
	2.3	Scale	e-Up of Emerging Technologies21
	2.3.1	1	Scale-Up Limitations21
	2.4	Men	nbrane Distillation Crystallization (MCr)22
	2.4.2	1	Membrane Distillation
	2.4.2	2	Crystallization25
	2.4.3	3	Hollow Fiber Membranes25
	2.4.4	4	Membrane Fouling
	2.5	Brin	e Inspissation
	2.6	Lanc	Use & Land Cover Changes (LULUCC)29
3	Met	hodo	logical Framework
	3.1	SdA	Brine Inspissation Environmental Impacts

3.1	1 Narrative Literature Review Methodology.	
3.2	Criteria for Improved Lithium Extraction Techno	logies31
3.2	2.1 Search Terms	
3.2	2.2 Selection Criteria	
3.3	Potential Environmental Impacts of MCr	
3.3	MCr Scale-Up	
3.4	Ex-Ante Comparative Life Cycle Assessment	
3.4	I.1 Goal Definition	
3.4	I.2 Scope Definition	
3.4	I.3 Life Cycle Inventory Analysis	
3.4	I.4 MCr	
3.5	PVDF Membranes	
3.5	Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Processing	
3.5	5.3 Impact Categories	
3.6	Interpretation	
3.6	5.1 Uncertainty Analysis	
3.6	5.2 Sensitivity Analysis	55
3.6	5.3 Land Use & Land Use Intensity (LUI)	55
4 Re	sults	
4.1	Environmental Impacts of Brine Inspissation	
4.1	1 Narrative Review	
1.1	Recommendations	
4.2	Improved Lithium Extraction Criteria	
4.2	2.1 Water Use	
4.2	2.2 Energy Consumption	
4.2	2.3 Chemical Usage	
4.2	2.4 Resource Efficiency & Circularity	
4.2	2.5 Efficiency, Scalability & Land Use	
4.2	2.6 Economic Feasibility	65
4.3	Ex-Ante Life Cycle Assessment	
4.3	$Li_2CO_3$ via MCr vs. $Li_2CO_3$ via Brine Inspissat	ion66
4.3	$Li_2CO_3$ via MCr with 100% solar PV vs. $Li_2CC$	0₃ via Brine Inspissation68
4.3	B.3 Brine Concentration Technology Comparise	on69

5	Disc	ussion	74
	5.1	Limitations	74
	5.1.	1 Data Availability & Reliability	74
	5.2	Literature Comparison	75
	5.3	Recommendations	75
6	Con	clusion	76
7	Refe	erences	77
8	Арр	endix	87
	8.1	Native Brine Composition	87
	8.2	Membrane Module Specifications	88
	8.3	Electrical Efficiencies and Coefficient of Performance	88
	8.4	Chilean High Voltage Mix (Ecoinvent)	89
	8.5	LCI Dataset for Producing 1 kg PVDF (Route 1) (adapted from Hu et al., 2022)	90
	8.6	Outlet Brine Composition	90

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Topographical map of Salar de Atacama, adapted from Liu and Agusdinata (2019)	14
Figure 2-1: Technological Readiness Level Framework, adapted from Moni et al. (2020)	20
Figure 2-2: Profile of temperature, concentration and hydraulic pressure across the membrane in th	e
DCMD process (image adapted from Choi et al. (2019). ( $T_f$ is the temperature in the feed solution. $T_f$	fm İS
the temperature on a membrane surface in the feed solution stream. $T_{\rm p}$ is the temperature in the	
permeate stream. $T_{pm}$ is the temperature on the membrane surface in the permeate stream. $C_f$ is the	ne
concentration in the feed solution stream. C <sub>fm</sub> is the concentration on the membrane surface in the	feed
solution side. $C_p$ is the concentration in the permeate stream. $P_f$ is the hydraulic pressure of the feed	d
solution, and $P_n$ is the hydraulic pressure of the permeate).	23
Figure 2-3: Process flowsheet of membrane distillation crystallization, adapted from Pantoja et al.	
(2015)	24
Figure 2-4: Cut-away view of a hollow fiber membrane module, adapted from Mat et al. (2014)	26
Figure 2-5: Scanning Electron Microscopy image of various hollow fiber membrane structures, adapt	ted
from Jiang et al. (2017).	26
Figure 2-6: Evaporation ponds in the Salar de Atacama (adapted from Tom Hegen, 2022)	28
Figure 2-7: General process to concentrate raw lithium brine in the Salar de Atacama (adapted from	I
Cerda et al., 2021)	28
Figure 2-8: Spatial map of lithium extraction land use increase from 1997-2017 (adapted from Liu ar	nd
Agusdinata, 2019)	29
Figure 3-1: System diagram of MCr process for ex-ante LCA	35
Figure 3-2: Mass & Energy balance diagram corresponding to Table 3-3 and Table 3-4	37
Figure 3-3: Diagram illustrating how Chilean electricity mix was re-modeled for 2030	44
Figure 3-4: System diagram of brine inspissation (adapted from Kelly et al., 2021)	49
Figure 3-5: System diagram of Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Production (adapted from Kelly et al., 2021).	51
Figure 3-6: SQM land usage report for lithium brine production and potash (adapted from SQM, 202	22).
	56
Figure 3-7: SQM production forecasts (adapted from SQM, 2022)	56
Figure 4-1: Map of freshwater extraction locations in SdA (adapted from Moran et al., 2022)	59
Figure 4-2: Diagram of emerging technologies for lithium extraction (adapted from Baudino et al., 20	022).
	63
Figure 4-3: LCA results comparing Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> production via MCr and brine inspissation	66
Figure 4-4: Pie Chart of GWP percentage contribution to Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> production via brine inspissation	67
Figure 4-5: LCA results comparing $Li_2CO_3$ production via MCr using 100% solar PV and brine inspissat	ion.
	68
Figure 4-6: LCA Results of 1 ton brine production via three production routes	70
Figure 4-7: GWP percentage contribution of processes in 1 ton brine production via MCr	71
Figure 4-8: GWP percentage contribution of processes in 1 ton brine production via MCr-PV	71
Figure 4-9: m <sup>3</sup> water deprived percentage contribution of 1 Ton Brine Production MCr	72

# List of Tables

Table 3-1: Search terms used for narrative review of environmental impacts related to lithium extract	tion
in the SdA	31
Table 3-2: Search terms used for narrative review of improved lithium brine extraction technology	
criteria	32
Table 3-3: Equations used by AMTC for the mass and energy balances of MCr scale-up	36
Table 3-4: Description of different variables in mass and energy balance modeling	37
Table 3-5: Equations used to model crystal formation	37
Table 3-6: Mass Percent Composition of Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	38
Table 3-7: Proportion of brine needed depending on concentration.	38
Table 3-8: Annual Mass & Energy Balance of Commercial Scale MCr Facility	39
Table 3-9: Scaled LCI values derived from annual mass & energy balance	40
Table 3-10: Chile 2030 Electricity Mix Unit Process Data.	45
Table 3-11: Unit Process for Producing 1 kg PVDF (Route 1)	47
Table 3-12: LCI of producing 1 ton lithium brine 4 wt%. via MCr	48
Table 3-13: LCI of 1 Ton lithium brine 5-6 wt%. via brine inspissation	50
Table 3-14: LCI of 1 ton Lithium Carbonate Production	51
Table 3-15: List of impact categories used in the LCA.	53
Table 3-16: Uncertainty Analysis Matrix Table (adapted from Hauschild et al., 2018)	54
Table 3-17: Uncertainty analysis of datasets used throughout this research	55
Table 3-18: Land Use Intensity & Production Intensity	57

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Background

Achieving net-zero carbon emissions requires energy critical elements (ECEs) which are fundamental for advanced energy production, transmission and storage but exposed to supply chain disruption risk (Hurd et al., 2012). Lithium, a highly reactive alkali metal with unique chemical and physical properties (Kavanagh et al., 2018) is an ECE that provides the basis for superior battery storage capabilities (Habib et al., 2020). Lithium-ion batteries provide high-capacity storage for variable renewable energy production and provide the basis for battery electric vehicles (BEVs) and consumer electronics (Li et al., 2019). The demand for Li-ion batteries is expected to grow at an annual compound rate of approximately 30% for the next ten years, and Li-ion batteries are expected to account for 95% of lithium demand by 2030 (McKinsey, 2022). Lithium resources and reserves are usually presented in tons of lithium carbonate equivalent (LCE) which serve as a useful metric in the lithium market which deal with different lithium compounds such as lithium hydroxide (LiOH), lithium hydroxide monohydrate (LiOH $\cdot$ H<sub>2</sub>) and lithium carbonate (Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). Worldwide consumption of lithium in 2021 increased 33% from 70,000 tons in 2020 to 93,000 tons in 2021 (USGS, 2022). Importantly, there is a large supply shortage foreseen in the future due to expected lithium demand in 2030 to be between 3,000 and 4,000 kilotons LCE with confirmed supply by 2030 estimated at only 1,200 kilotons (McKinsey, 2022). Therefore, increased lithium production is needed alongside new production methods to mitigate a supply shortage and advance decarbonization goals through a more sustainable procurement of lithium (AltaLey, 2022; McKinsey 2022).

Providing lithium production capacity which can meet forecasted demand by 2030 requires careful consideration of the environmental, socio-economic, and technological implications of a buildout of production capacity. A 'wicked problem' or 'burden-shifting' emerges when technologies necessary for the global energy transition which reduce climate footprints in one region, contribute to environmental issues such as water scarcity in other regions of the world (Schomberg et al., 2021). Recently, the lithium industry has received notable scrutiny because of soaring prices (IEA, 2022a), supply constraints (McKinsey, 2022) and environmental and social sustainability concerns (Marazuela et al., 2019; Quinteros-Condoretty et al., 2020; Liu and Agusdinata, 2021; IEA, 2021; Yang et al., 2021; IEA, 2022b; Moran et al., 2022). Part of this scrutiny relates to the ways in which lithium is extracted and produced around the world.

Primary lithium is commercially extracted in two ways, either through ore and clay deposits or through brine deposits. Brines are water solutions with a salinity content higher than seawater and can be categorized as geothermal brines, oilfield brines and continental brines (Baudino et al., 2022). This research focuses specifically on continental brine deposits. Approximately 65% of primary lithium production originates from continental brine deposits (USGS, 2017) while 35% originates from pegmatite ores (primarily in Australia) and clay deposits (Peiró et al., 2013). The Puna Plateau which includes Argentina, Bolivia and Chile are estimated to have the largest lithium reserves worldwide with Chile having the most at 10.5 million metric tons (AltaLey, 2022). In Chile, lithium-rich brine is extracted primarily from the Salar de Atacama (SdA) which is a dry salt flat that contains underground continental brine deposits. After the brine is extracted, it is evaporated through a process known as 'brine inspissation' which is also referred to as brine evaporation. Part of the reason that lithium extraction has been scrutinized is because it is estimated that up to 95% of the water content in extracted brines is lost during the evaporation.

process (Heubl, 2019) and approximately 2.2 million liters of water are needed to produce 1 ton of LCE from lithium brine (IEA, 2022). When contextualizing this water loss within one of the driest deserts on the planet (Romero et al. 2012), it raises concerns about the long-term sustainability of lithium. A study by Schomberg et al. (2021) calculated the water scarcity footprint related to Li-ion battery production and found that brine inspissation in Chile and China are responsible for the greatest evapotranspiration losses along the supply chain of Lithium-ion batteries. Furthermore, the evapotranspiration losses from brine inspissation occur in regions of Chile and China that have a 'very high' probability of natural freshwater scarcity for humans and nature (Schomberg et al., 2021). In addition to water scarcity issues, Liu and Agusdinata (2019) found a strong correlation between lithium extraction activities in the SdA and local environmental degradation. However, several studies indicate that more detailed and exploratory research is needed to fully understand the sustainability implications of lithium extraction via brine inspissation on the surrounding environment (Agusdinata, 2018; Heubl, 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Gajardo and Redon, 2019; Marazuela et al., 2020).

Fortunately, industry stakeholders and governments are committed to developing alternative and improved lithium extraction processes which can improve environmental and social sustainability while still being economically feasible (Quinteros-Condoretty et al., 2020; Albemarle, 2021; AltaLey, 2022; McKinsey, 2022; SQM, 2022). In fact, experimentation with different technologies for lithium extraction has been studied for several years but have not been widely developed commercially due to cost and technical challenges. These technologies are known as direct-lithium-extraction (DLE) technologies which include adsorption methods, ion-exchange and sorption, solvent extraction, electrochemical separation, membrane processes and other hybrid methods such as ion-imprinted membranes, Li ion sieve membranes, membrane capacitive deionization and membrane distillation-crystallization (MCr) (Flexer et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021; Khalil et al., 2021). Recently, Cerda et al. (2021) and Quilaqueo et al. (2022) conducted lab-scale studies at the Advanced Mining Technology Center (AMTC) in Santiago, Chile which validated the feasibility of using MCr for lithium recovery from continental brines in the SdA. Based on their lab-scale studies, this research seeks to evaluate the implications of using MCr at a commercial scale for lithium extraction in the SdA.

# 1.2 MCr Benefits

Importantly, MCr has the potential to be a notable improvement for brine-based extraction of lithium for several key reasons. First, MCr for lithium extraction shows the capacity to recover 95% of water contained in lithium brines (Cerda et al., 2021). This potential recovery rate is possible due to the fact that MCr is based on membrane distillation (MD) which can produce freshwater as permeate. Secondly, MCr eliminates the need for evaporation ponds and the 12-24 months required for the inspissation process because the concentration of the lithium brine occurs inside of the membrane modules. Third, the land area required for brine concentration may be substantially reduced because the evaporation ponds are no longer needed. Fourth, MCr does not require the use of reagents or anti-solvents to recover other by-products from the lithium brine such as potassium chloride (KCI), magnesium (Mg) or sodium chloride (NaCI). Fifth, MCr can operate with low pressures (Lawson and Lloyd, 1996) and temperatures (Banat et al., 2002) and can therefore be integrated with low-grade waste heat sources (Guan et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2017; Lu and Chung, 2019; Ghaffour et al., 2019).

#### Page | 13

# 1.3 Previous Lithium LCA Literature

Previous studies and reviews (Stamp et al., 2012; Peters et al., 2017; Ambrose and Kendall, 2020; Jiang et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Kelly et al., 2021; Manjong et al., 2021; Sadhukhan and Christensen, 2021; Schomberg et al., 2021; Arshad et al., 2021; Lai et al. 2022; Schenker et al., 2022; Chordia et al., 2022) have tried to determine the environmental impact of lithium extraction via brine inspissation by using life cycle assessment (LCA) which is a standardized and quantitative tool used to evaluate the potential environmental impacts of a product or service. Part of the difficulty in understanding and anticipating the potential environmental impact of 'emerging technologies', as is the case with MCr, is due to the high uncertainty associated with scaling lab-scale technology to commercial scale production (Moni et al., 2020; Tsoy et al., 2020; Giesen et al., 2020). To date, only a few studies have studied the life cycle environmental impacts of various emerging technologies that could be used for lithium production which are nanofiltration (Li et al., 2020), lithium-aluminum-layered double hydroxide chloride (LDH) sorbent and forward osmosis (Huang et al., 2021), and the C3 SOLVOLi+ process developed at KU Leuven (Maria et al., 2022). However, studies exploring the LCA of MCr for lithium recovery and LCE production have yet to be conducted. Given the aforementioned benefits of MCr as a lithium recovery method, this research seeks to provide the first preliminary understanding of the potential environmental impact of producing Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> at a commercial scale MCr facility.

# 1.4 Problem Definition

Achieving decarbonization goals will require significant amounts of lithium in the coming years and it is not yet fully understood how meeting lithium demand will be accomplished or if it will be produced in a sustainable manner. It is unknown whether MCr is an environmentally preferable technology or what the trade-offs might be at commercial scale for producing Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Substantial research exploring the socioeconomic, environmental, political and technological implications is needed. This research seeks to address one facet of the problem by providing scientific knowledge about the environmental impact of commercial scale LCE via MCr.

# 1.5 Research Aims

The research aims of this study are to:

- (1) Provide an overview of the known environmental impacts resulting from brine inspissation in the SdA.(2) Provide an overview of criteria for improved lithium brine extraction technologies.
- (3) Perform an ex-ante comparative LCA to examine the differences between brine inspissation and MCr.(4) Calculate and compare the land-use intensity of brine inspissation and MCr.

Such an analysis can provide the basis for informed decision-making regarding the improvement and deployment of MCr as an alternative for brine inspissation or as a supplement to existing production capacity. This ex-ante comparative LCA can lead to new insights and can help support process engineers, chemists and other technologists in the development of the MCr technology at a commercial scale by identifying hotspots and points of improvement.

# 1.6 Scope

The scope of this research pertains specifically to the SdA in Chile because the research carried out by Cerda et al. (2021) and Quilaqueo (2022) exploring MCr for lithium recovery rely on brine compositions that are modeled after the SdA brine composition. Secondly, the largest brine reserves in the world are in Chile and it is sensible to assess emerging technologies within this context as this is a region that will continue to create more production capacity (AltaLey, 2022). Lastly, the brine inspissation data used for the comparison is derived from operational data of Sociedad Química y Minera de Chile SA (SQM) which is the largest producer of lithium products in Chile. Figure 1-1 below depicts a topographical map illustrating the SdA.



Figure 1-1: Topographical map of Salar de Atacama, adapted from Liu and Agusdinata (2019).

# 1.7 Research Questions

Consistent with the stated research aims and scope of this study, the following main research question and sub questions have been formulated below.

# What are the potential environmental sustainability implications of producing LCE via MCr in the Salar de Atacama?

- 1. What are the environmental impacts of brine inspissation in the Salar de Atacama?
- 2. What are the criteria for improved lithium brine extraction technologies?
- **3.** How does a commercial MCr plant compare to a brine inspissation facility regarding environmental impacts?

#### 1.8 Relevance

This study is being done in collaboration with the Advanced Mining Technology Center (AMTC) in Santiago, Chile. AMTC is the main research center in Chile for the mining industry and it is also a part of the Faculty of Physical and Mathematical Sciences at the University of Chile. This study is relevant for several key reasons. First, it provides the first comparative ex-ante LCA of MCr used for lithium recovery. Secondly, it adds to the nascent and understudied domain of ex-ante LCA literature. Lastly, it advances our understanding of the potential trade-offs and limitations of MCr as an environmentally sustainable alternative for continental brine-based lithium extraction.

# 1.9 Research Structure

Section 1 'Introduction' provides a general overview of the societal relevance of lithium extraction and focuses on MCr as the object of study along with research questions consistent with the stated research aims. Section 2 'Theoretical Background' introduces the theoretical framework which provides the background to understand the research including an overview of LCA, ex-ante LCA, scale-ups of emerging technologies, MCr, brine inspissation and land-use intensity (LUI). Section 3 'Methodological Framework' introduces the methods used to answer the research questions which detail the scale-up process, life cycle inventories (LCI), life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) methodologies used and the approach used to calculate land use and land use intensity of producing LCE via MCr and brine inspissation. Section 4 'Results' provides the discoveries that were made following the methods used in Section 3. Section 5 'Discussion' integrates the results to answer the main research question and discuss the implications, trade-offs, main foreseen limitations and risks of the technology and finally, ideas for further research. Section 6 'Conclusion' provides a brief summary of the entire research.

# 2 Theoretical Background

# 2.1 Life Cycle Assessment

LCA methodology is a commonly used tool for industry, scientific research and policymaking to understand the potential environmental impacts that may occur throughout the entire product system life cycle. In other words, LCA assesses the potential environmental impacts that occur during the raw material acquisition, production, use phases and End-of-Life (EoL) phase of a product. In doing so, LCA provides decision-support to different stakeholders by creating an overview of potential environmental impacts which are often considered in conjunction with other strategic values that are of interest to a given stakeholder (Lindahl et al., 2014). For this reason, the decision-making context should be made clear to prevent results from being used out of context (Sandin et al., 2015). In the last two decades, the International Standards Organization has produced ISO 14040:2006 and ISO 14044:2006 (ISO, 2006a; 2006b) to provide a standardized approach and guidance for constructing LCAs. Moreover, different LCAs address different aims depending on if they are consequential, attributional, dynamic, anticipatory or exante (Giesen et al., 2020). There are four main iterative phases of an LCA including (1) the goal and scope definition, (2) the life cycle inventory analysis, (3) the life cycle impact assessment and (4) the interpretation phase.

- (1) Goal & Scope Definition: The goal defines the purpose of the LCA and the scope determines the functional unit that is assessed along with the system boundaries regarding spatial and temporal criteria and the methods that will be used for the impact assessment. Importantly, in comparative studies, conclusions are drawn based on measured differences observed in the same functional unit which serves as the object of study and standard from which a comparison can take place.
- (2) Life Cycle Inventory Analysis (LCI): This phase gathers quantitative data about energy and material inputs, emissions, wastes and other outputs. Primary data can be obtained first-hand through interviews, surveys, experiments, questionnaires or similar means. Secondary data can be retrieved from publications, journal articles, records etc. Often times to construct an LCI, secondary data is utilized for different processes with the use of databases such as Ecoinvent.
- (3) Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA): The LCIA phase compiles the inventory data which is characterized by chosen impact assessment methodologies to determine their environmental significance. LCIA typically consists of the following steps: (1) selecting relevant impact categories, (2) assigning elementary flows to the impact categories (classification), (3) modeling potential impacts using characterization factors to obtain an indicator for the impact category (characterization), and finally, (4) normalization, grouping and weighting which are optional steps and depend on the goal and scope of the study (Hauschild et al., 2018).
- (4) Interpretation: The final phase of the LCA is to identify potentially significant issues, and check for completeness, sensitivity and uncertainty for each of the identified issues. Significant issues are sources of uncertainty such as input parameters, unit processes or characterization factors used in the analysis that contribute to uncertainty in LCA results (Hauschild et al., 2018). Due to the nature of LCA, sensitivity and uncertainty analyses provide an important means of evaluating changes in outcomes of the system and refining results. It also involves determining whether or not the LCA phases have been designed to adequately attend to the goals defined in the goal and scope definition.

LCAs are most commonly conducted either as attributional or consequential and there are stark differences between the two. The objective of attributional LCA is to determine what environmental burdens can be attributed to a certain product or service throughout its lifecycle (Hauschild et al., 2018). The objective of consequential LCAs is to provide information about the environmental burdens that may occur, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of a decision which is usually represented as a change in demand for a product or service (Hauschild et al., 2018). The type of LCA conducted also has important implications for dealing with multifunctionality, whereby a product system creates multiple outputs. Multifunctionality poses a methodological challenge because it requires informed judgement to determine the method by which environmental burdens are attributed to different co-products. Approaches for dealing with multifunctionality follow a hierarchical approach and can be further reviewed in Schrijvers et al. (2016), Hauschild et al. (2018) and Schaubroeck et al. (2021). Further information regarding the methodology and nuances within LCA can be found in ISO (2006a), ISO (2006b), Hauschild et al. (2018), and ILCD (2010) in addition to relevant academic literature. Like any tool, there are several benefits and limitations of LCA.

# 2.1.1 LCA Strengths & Benefits

Life cycle thinking provides the ability to identify environmental issues that are beyond our immediate attention, which may occur in another place or another form and might therefore be ignored or devalued (Klopffer, 2014). LCA also highlights potential environmental trade-offs based on complex interactions between various systems that may be located in different regions (e.g., battery supply chains). Importantly, LCA can also challenge conventional wisdom by quantifying products or services that might have been commonly held as environmentally preferable but in fact, are worse than alternatives (Klopffer, 2014). However, although LCA provides a tool for decision-making and communication among stakeholders to improve products and services, there are several limitations that are still being addressed in the academic and professional community.

# 2.1.2 LCA Challenges & Limitations

Delineating the challenges and limitations of LCA is important both for practitioners and stakeholders involved in decision-making. It is also important to catalog and understand the current limitations so that future research can be targeted towards rectifying known issues. Depending on the LCA study, the nature of the challenges or limitations differ and therefore the most common limitations will be addressed. First, uncertainty plays a substantial role throughout the entire LCA process and there are several different types of uncertainty. An epistemological discussion around uncertainty can be found in Sigel et al. (2010) but for the purpose of this research, Hauschild et al. (2018) provides a useful summary of the different types of uncertainty and limitations present in LCA studies. The types of uncertainty are broadly categorized as parameter, model, scenario and relevance uncertainty.

Parameter uncertainty is constituted by the inaccuracy, lack or non-representativeness of input data and model parameters (Hauschild et al., 2018). Model or 'structure' uncertainty relates to the uncertainty of the setup of the model including the initial and boundary conditions defined, equations used and the variables and indicators accounted for (Hauschild et al., 2018). Scenario uncertainty pertains to uncertainty in the use and application of the model and its results under predefined conditions and assumptions which may also contribute to uncertainty in the interpretation of the model results (Hauschild et al., 2018).

Lastly, relevance uncertainty is associated with the relevance and representativeness of the indicators that are used to represent a given environmental problem (Hauschild et al., 2018). Considering the different types of uncertainty together, the uncertainty during the decision-making process is dependent not only on the variability of parameters but also how results are interpreted and whether the model is representative and complete. Importantly, there is no formal guideline or standard to explain how uncertainty should be dealt with in LCA and in many studies, uncertainty is dealt with piece-meal or not at all. However, the approach used for dealing with uncertainty and sensitivity in this research is further discussed in Section 3 'Methodological Framework'.

# 2.2 Ex-Ante Life Cycle Assessment

An increasing number of studies apply LCA to emerging or future technologies which is commonly referred to as prospective or ex-ante LCA (Giesen et al., 2020). Although prospective LCA and ex-ante LCA are similar, the term ex-ante LCA will be used for this research. Following the definition of Giesen et al. (2020), ex-ante refers to an LCA that is carried out 'before a product or technology is commercially deployed at scale and information about the technology under assessment is not yet available'. In contrast to conventional LCA, ex-ante LCA endeavors to study an emerging technology or product system that is at an early stage of development but is modeled at a future, more-developed stage i.e., commercial production (Arvidsson et al., 2018). The purpose of an ex-ante LCA is to help guide research and development and avoid environmental lock-in effects thereby creating an environmentally competitive technology pathways embed certain designs that commit themselves to certain associated environmental impacts that are difficult to diverge from (Chester et al., 2014). Therefore, ex-ante LCA can help provide a more rigorous understanding of how emerging technology systems may affect long-term sustainability goals (Chester et al., 2014; Reyna and Chester, 2015).

# 2.2.1 Ex-Ante LCA Strengths & Benefits

One reason ex-ante LCAs play an important role in technology development, scale-up and environmental guidance is because they might help ameliorate the Collingridge dilemma (Collingridge, 1980). This dilemma supposes that at an early stage of technological development, ample room for alteration and control of the process exists but the knowledge about the technology is sparse however, at a later stage of development, more knowledge exists about the process but there is less room for alteration hence the lock-in effect (Arvidsson et al., 2018). Ostensibly, early stages of development can be improved with information provided by the results of an ex-ante LCA. Ex-ante LCAs are similar to conventional LCAs in that they are still composed of a goal & scope definition, a life cycle inventory, an impact assessment and an interpretation phase. However, the greatest difference associated with ex-ante LCAs is the high levels of uncertainty, lack of data availability and quality and challenges regarding comparability and scaling effects (Hetherington et al., 2014; Moni et al., 2020; van der Giesen et al., 2020; Thonemann et al., 2020). In addition, the potential environmental impacts of new technologies may not be covered by existing impact categories and there may also be an absence of specific characterization factors because many biosphere flows are left unclassified due to a lack of adequate data and modeling (Giesen et al., 2020).

## 2.2.2 Ex-Ante LCA Challenges & Limitations

Aside from the challenges previously mentioned, there are also some methodological differences that pose a challenge for the LCA practitioner. Ideally, the emerging technology should be modeled at a late stage of technical development to accurately reflect the technology's environmental performance at a mature stage (Arvidsson et al., 2018). Two important concepts to help describe this process are the technology readiness level (TRL) (US DOD, 2011 as cited in Arvidsson et al., 2018) and manufacturing readiness level (MRL) (US DOD, 2015 as cited in Arvidsson et al., 2018). The TRL indicates the extent to which the technology has evolved from its early stages until demonstration while MRL indicates production volumes from lab-stage (low volume) to commercial production (high volume). Additionally, a distinction can be made between intra-technology comparisons and inter-technology comparisons. Intra-technology comparisons delineate a comparison between an emerging technology and a conventional or incumbent technology (Thonemann et al., 2020).

An example of an inter-technology comparison would compare an emerging technology modeled at a high TRL and a conventional technology (high TRL) at a future point in time. This avoids the pitfall of comparing a lab-scale technology with low TRL with an incumbent technology with a high TRL which would not be ex-ante as it compares the status quo at different scales while neglecting technological development of the emerging technology (Thonemann et al., 2020). Therefore, the LCI foreground data of both the emerging technology and the incumbent technology should be modeled at the same TRL but importantly, the LCI background data for both product systems should also be modeled at the same TRL. This is a methodological challenge and is further described in section 2.3 Scale-Up where data scaling is discussed. Importantly, by addressing the TRL for both background and foreground data, the technological scope and temporal scope of the LCA are consistent. Moni et al. (2020) provides a useful framework for assessing the TRL and MRL of a given technology which has been adapted in Figure 3 below. In Section 3 'Methodological Framework', the TRL framework presented by Moni et al. (2020) will be used to assess the TRL and corresponding MRL of MCr for lithium recovery in addition to the TRL and MRL of lithium brine inspissation.

#### 2.2.3 Ex-Ante LCA Problem-Solving Strategies

Perhaps the most important aspect of conducting an ex-ante LCA is to explicitly communicate the various uncertainties, assumptions and challenges encountered throughout the analysis. Doing so provides transparent information for decision-makers, technologists and future LCA practitioners which might help with future iterations of the scale-up, design and evaluation process. Moni et al. (2020) suggests some key strategies for supporting the development of an ex-ante LCA which include developing a LCI data repository for various emerging materials, processes and technologies which include uncertainty distributions, TRL and MRL indicators as well as data collection methods, assumptions and information regarding spatial and temporal variation. In addition, integrating ex-ante LCA with techno-economic analysis (TEA) allows for the simultaneous evaluation of environmental and economic performance of an emerging technology which may reduce inconsistencies which could arise when performed separately (Moni et al., 2020). However, due to time constraints of this study, a TEA will not be conducted but is recommended for future research in Section 5. The framework provided by Moni et al. (2020) in Figure 2-1 is useful for discerning what TRL and MRL a given technology under assessment may be. In this study it is used to determine the current TRL and MRL of brine inspissation and MCr as well as the future TRL and MRL that are theorized in this study.

Methodological challenges of LCA of emerging technologies	Uncertain functions and system boundaries, very limited inventory data	As above	Systems not integrated; overall material and energy balance data is not available	Comparability, scale up issues, data and model uncertainties	As above	As above	Scale up issues due to change in material and energy efficiency; data and model uncertainty	As above	As above	As above
Decision support from LCA	Major screening (e.g., raw materials, energy mix); environmental impacts based on thermodynamic principles	As above	Environmental impacts of technology components; selection from component alternatives	Comparison between process alternatives based on mass and energy balance	Selection of promising alternatives for further research and comparison with existing technologies	As above	Full scale LCA results which will provide updated environmental assessment as technology maturity increases and process parameters are optimized	As above	As above	As above
Available Data for LCA	Published research articles or other references	As above	Laboratory scale data of technology components	Laboratory scale data of integrated system	Simulation data	Pilot scale data.	Full scale prototype testing data.	Small scale production data	Full scale production data	Mass scale production data
Corresponding MRL	MRL 1: Identification of basic manufacturing implications	MRL 2: Identification of new manufacturing concepts	MRL 3: Proof of manufacturing concepts through analytical or laboratory experiments	MRL 4: Production of laboratory prototype	MRL 5: Production of prototype in simulated environment	MRL 6: Production of prototype system in simulated environment	MRL 7: Production of prototype in production environment	MRL 8: Ready to begin low rate initial production	MRL 9: Capable to begin full rate production	MRL 10: Lean mass production
Technological advancement	Identification of scientific principles underlying potential useful technology	Identification of potential practical applications of the technology	Laboratory validation of different technology components	Laboratory validation that all components work together	Validation of the capability of integrated systems in simulated environment	Scale up from laboratory scale to engineering scale	Demonstration of actual system prototype in relevant environment	Final form of the technology and proof of applicability under expected condition	Fully developed technology operated under full range of operating conditions	
Question to determine TRL	Have basic principles of new technology been observed and reported and methodologies been developed for applied R&D?	Have paper studies confirmed the feasibility of system or component application?	Have analytical and experimental proof-of-concept of components of technology been demonstrated in a laboratory environment?	Has performance of components and interfaces between components been demonstrated in lab environment?	Have laboratory to engineering scale scale-up issues been identified and resolved?	Have engineering scale to full scale scale-up issues been identified and resolved?	Has the actual technology been tested in relevant operational environment?	Has the actual technology successfully operated in a limited operational environment?	Has the actual technology successfully operated in the full operational environment?	TRL 10 does not exist.
TRL	TRL1: Basic principle observed and reported	TRL 2: Technology concept and/or application formulated	TRL 3: Proof of concept	TRL 4: Component and/or system validation in laboratory environment	TRL 5: Laboratory scale system validation in relevant environment	TRL 6: Engineering/pilot scale system validation in relevant environment	TRL 7: Full scale, similar system demonstrated in relevant environment	TRL 8: Actual system completed and qualified through test and demonstration	TRL 9: Actual system operated over full range of expected conditions	Mass production

Figure 2-1: Technological Readiness Level Framework, adapted from Moni et al. (2020)

# 2.3 Scale-Up of Emerging Technologies

An integral part of ex-ante LCA requires the scaling of a technology to a given TRL and MRL so that it can be appropriately compared with other technologies at similar TRL and MRL. However, for emerging technologies, industrial scale data is likely non-existent and therefore data from lab-scale processes must be used which likely do not adequately represent the environmental or economic implications at commercial scale production (Shibasaki, 2007). Part of the reason for this is that there is an incongruence in data from lab-scale to commercial-scale technology which is often due to a difference in efficiencies (waste heat reutilization, reuse and recycling of raw materials, continuous vs. batch processes) as well as the types of equipment used at different scales (Moni et al., 2020). Additionally, different raw materials (reactants, solvents, eluents) may be used which could contribute to a different profile of co-product or by-product output as well as a change in emissions and waste generation (Maranghi et al., 2020).

Without commercial-scale data for the emerging technology, various approaches are utilized to model commercial-scale operational data however, a standard approach for upscaling in ex-ante LCA does not currently exist (Tsoy et al., 2020). Perhaps the most common approach to obtain LCI data is to perform process simulation and modeling using process engineering calculations which include mass and energy balances in addition to stoichiometric calculations (Morgan-Sagastume et al., 2016; Tsoy et al., 2020). Parvatker and Eckelman (2019) found that using process simulation tools for LCI data generation provides similar results compared to data from operational plants. While there are several frameworks that have been developed for scale-ups of technologies (Shibasaki, 2007; Piccinno et al., 2016; Simon et al., 2016; Villares et al., 2016; Schulze et al., 2018; Elginoz et al., 2022), the framework used by Tsoy et al. (2020) is the approach that is generally followed in this research. The decision to use the framework developed by Tsoy et al. (2020) is based on the fact that they conducted a systematic review of upscaling methods used for ex-ante LCA between 1990 and 2019 and presented a simplified framework that integrates the main characteristics of previous ex-ante LCA scale-up approaches.

The framework proposed by Tsoy et al. (2020) consists of three steps. The first step involves designing a conceptual scenario for the new technology. This may involve using predictive scenarios or scenario ranges (Arvidsson et al., 2018) or it may be developed through literature review and expert interviews depending on the goal and scope of the analysis at hand. Second, LCA and technology experts should develop a flow chart for the LCA and thirdly, data for unit processes should be estimated or modeled to generate LCIs. For this research specifically, process simulation is used because it provides the mass and energy balances for which elementary and reference flows can be established. Technical knowledge, process modeling and chemical engineering expertise is provided by the process engineering team at AMTC in Santiago, Chile. Specific details regarding the scale up process for MCr are covered in Section 3 "Methodological Framework".

# 2.3.1 Scale-Up Limitations

One of the limitations of most ex-ante LCA results is that most often they are not validated after the assessed technologies are created at industrial scale (Tsoy et al. 2020). Secondly, simulating a possible future commercial scale scenario involves several assumptions about the process (Piccinno et al., 2016) and also requires extensive expert knowledge about the technology that is not always readily available. For this reason, several authors (Piccinno et al. 2016; Tecchio et al. 2016; Arvidsson et al., 2018; Thonemann et al., 2020; Giesen et al., 2020; Tsoy et al., 2020) highly suggest performing sensitivity or uncertainty analyses to effectively manage uncertainty throughout the process and further understand

the implications of assumptions. Lastly, it is probably preferable to assess and model the emerging technology system using conservative assumptions to ensure that the results are likely higher that what is potentially achievable, therefore assuring that known impacts are not underestimated (Piccinno et al., 2016).

# 2.4 Membrane Distillation Crystallization (MCr)

This section provides a brief discussion regarding the key characteristics of MCr and is divided into three sections which comprise the basics of MCr used in this research which are membrane distillation, crystallization and hollow fiber membranes.

## 2.4.1 Membrane Distillation

Membrane distillation crystallization (MCr) integrates MD and crystallization which can provide highquality freshwater from the MD stage and valuable salts derived from highly saline solutions during the crystallization and settling stage (Wan Osman et al., 2022). As previously discussed in Section 1.2 'MCr Benefits', the theoretical advantages of MCr include the reduction of energy consumption, raw material use and waste emissions while simultaneously maximizing freshwater and crystal product output (Quist-Jensen et al., 2016). In addition, MCr may enhance process control while allowing for the manipulation of crystal size, shape, growth rate and purity (Balis et al., 2022) however, refining the manipulation of these variables is still under investigation.

There are several types of membranes including flat-plate, spiral-wound, multi-bore and hollow fiber membranes. The membranes can be used in different configurations depending on the application but for membrane distillation (MD) the configurations primarily include direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD), air gap membrane distillation (AGMD), sweep gas membrane distillation (SGMD) and vacuum membrane distillation (VMD). For this research, only DCMD will be discussed because it is the configuration used in Cerda et al. (2021) and Quilaqueo et al. (2022) which this research report is based upon, and it is also the most studied MD configuration. DCMD is a thermally driven separation process involving the transport of vapor molecules across a hydrophobic porous membrane which is positioned between a high temperature feed solution and a low temperature permeate stream. The major driving force for this process is the vapor pressure difference,  $\Delta P = Pf - Pp$  resulting from a temperature difference  $\Delta T = Tf - Tp$  between the feed (f) and permeate (p) streams (Yadav et al., 2022). The feed stream is also referred to as the retentate stream and the permeate stream can be referred to as the distillate stream. The properties of the membrane such as the hydrophobicity, porosity and pore size distribution substantially affect the transmembrane flux and the degree of supersaturation (Di Profio et al., 2009). During the MD stage, the feed solution becomes supersaturated due to the continuous removal of solvent via solvent evaporation across the membrane surface and the simultaneous decline in feed temperature thereby increasing the concentration of solutes in the feed (Choi et al., 2019). The supersaturated solution can then be transported to a settler or filter whereby crystallized salts precipitate. The basic mechanics of the MD process are depicted in Figure 2-2 below. Figure 2-3 below illustrates a basic process flowsheet of the MCr process.



Figure 2-2: Profile of temperature, concentration and hydraulic pressure across the membrane in the DCMD process (image adapted from Choi et al. (2019). ( $T_f$  is the temperature in the feed solution,  $T_{fm}$  is the temperature on a membrane surface in the feed solution stream,  $T_p$  is the temperature in the permeate stream,  $T_{pm}$  is the temperature on the membrane surface in the permeate stream,  $C_f$  is the concentration in the feed solution stream,  $C_{fm}$  is the concentration on the membrane surface in the feed solution side,  $C_p$  is the concentration in the permeate stream,  $P_f$  is the hydraulic pressure of the feed solution, and  $P_p$  is the hydraulic pressure of the permeate).





PURE WATER

FEED (BRINE)

#### 2.4.2 Crystallization

Crystallization is a fundamental process in a wide range of scientific disciplines which intersect chemistry, physics, biology, materials science and geology. Within industrial applications, crystallization is a separation and purification technique whereby a crystalline product is obtained from a solution. Crystallization is a complex process which requires several stages the first of which is supersaturation. To create a population of crystals from a solution, supersaturation must be induced as it serves as the driving force of crystallization, whereby the solute concentration exceeds the equilibrium solute concentration at a given temperature (Myerson et al., 2019). The most common methods for generating supersaturation are achieved through a temperature change (cooling), evaporation of the solvent, changing the solvent composition, inducing a chemical reaction or increasing the pressure of the solution (Myerson et al., 2019). Once supersaturation is achieved, the growth of crystals can be understood as a two-step process involving nucleation and crystal growth. Nucleation occurs when molecules dissolved within a solution begin to aggregate to relieve supersaturation and move the system back towards equilibrium which eventually leads to the formation of nuclei that act as centers of crystallization (Myerson et al., 2019). Nucleation can occur spontaneously or it can be achieved with external influences but the two primary mechanisms of nucleation are primary nucleation and secondary nucleation. The final crystal size distribution within a system is dependent upon both nucleation and the growth rate of crystals. For the purpose of this research and the complex nature of the various theories regarding nucleation and crystal growth, in depth information can be found in Byrappa and Ohachi (2002), Tung (2009), Van Driessche et al. (2017) and Myerson et al. (2019).

Importantly, MCr is unique in that the process generates a crystal slurry via solvent evaporation within the membrane modules as opposed to being generated within a separate crystallizer unit. Due to the fact that crystallization occurs within the retentate/feed stream resulting from the MD process, collecting crystallized solids is made possible with the use of gravity sedimentation using settlers, decanters, thickeners or clarifiers which rely on the gravitational force to induce the separation between crystals and the retentate solution (Tarleton and Wakeman, 2007).

#### 2.4.3 Hollow Fiber Membranes

Hollow fiber membranes will be discussed in this section because they are the membranes used in the research by Cerda et al. (2021), Quilaqueo et al. (2022) and they are the membrane type that is modeled for process simulation in this research. Hollow fiber membrane modules are comprised of several membrane fibers which can be called fiber bundles. The fiber bundle is embedded within a tube sheet to create a barrier and allow for separate fluid communication with the fiber interior (lumen) and exterior (shell) spaces. Fluid streams can then be introduced to the lumen and shell spaces whereby volatile compounds can evaporate through the porous membranes into the shell space as permeate. A permeate sweep is also used to dramatically improve the module performance (Mat et al., 2014) and in the case of Cerda et al. (2021), the permeate sweep creates the temperature differential which allows the MD process to occur. A cut-away view of a typical hollow fiber membrane module can be seen in Figure 2-4 below.



Figure 2-4: Cut-away view of a hollow fiber membrane module, adapted from Mat et al. (2014).

Hollow fiber membranes used for membrane distillation or other filtration applications are typically made of polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF), polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), polypropylene (PP) or polyvinyl chloride (PVC) and an image depicting the membrane structures can be found in Figure 2-5 below. Generally, the membranes used for MCr need good mechanical performance, thermal and chemical stabilities and low resistances to mass and heat transfer (Jiang et al., 2017). However, the major limitation of membrane contactor technology is due to membrane fouling.



Figure 2-5: Scanning Electron Microscopy image of various hollow fiber membrane structures, adapted from Jiang et al. (2017).

# 2.4.4 Membrane Fouling

Membrane fouling occurs when particles, colloidal particles, or solute macromolecules are adsorbed or deposited onto the membrane surface or membrane pores by physical or chemical interactions causing the membrane pores to be blocked and therefore impinge transmembrane flux (Luo and Deng, 2019). Severe flux drops affect the guality of the MD application and can affect operational parameters of the entire process which have implications in terms of the operating cost of the membrane system, including power requirements, costs of power, labor, materials, membrane cleaning, membrane life and replacement (Bennett, 2005). Membrane foulants can be classified into four categories namely, particulates, organic, inorganic and micro-biological organisms which each pose their own challenges (Guo et al., 2012). In addition, there are six primary fouling mechanisms that have been identified which are pore blocking, cake formation, concentration polarization, organic adsorption, inorganic precipitation and biological fouling (Guo et al., 2012). Ongoing research is exploring how to mitigate membrane fouling because it is the primary barrier limiting membrane technologies from being widely adopted for commercial applications. Bagheri and Mirbagheri (2018), Nasrollahi et al. (2021) and Al Sawaftah et al. (2021) provide recent comprehensive reviews of different techniques for mitigating membrane fouling however for the purpose of this research, this phenomenon is neglected due to the difficulty of obtaining process modeling data that incorporates this behavior.

# 2.5 Brine Inspissation

Currently, two thirds of commercially extracted lithium originates from continental brines which are extracted via brine inspissation which is also referred to as brine evaporation. Brine inspissation is a relatively mature technology in addition to being more cost-effective (Grosjean et al. 2012) and less intensive on the environment than rock-based extraction (Jiang et al. 2020). Brine inspissation is a passive process whereby brines are first pumped out of salt flats and then held in large evaporation ponds. While in the evaporation ponds, wind and solar evaporation concentrate the brines to approximately 6000mg<sup>LI</sup> L<sup>-1</sup> and often include successive stages where – depending on the brine processed – other ions that did not spontaneously precipitate are removed with chemical treatments. However, current brine inspissation technology requires specific conditions that are difficult to replicate and therefore primarily occur in the Puna Plateau which comprises Bolivia, Argentina Chile as well as the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau in China. The specific conditions that are difficult to replicate yet fundamental to the process are the climatic behavior and the hydro-geological makeup of the salt flats which affect the composition of the brine, the time needed for evaporation and separation and the refining process (Baudino et al., 2022). A section of the evaporation ponds used for lithium recovery in the SdA can be seen in Figure 2-6 below.



Figure 2-6: Evaporation ponds in the Salar de Atacama (adapted from Tom Hegen, 2022).

A generalized process diagram provided by Cerda et al. (2021) in Figure 2-7 illustrates the various stages of brine inspissation that occur in the SdA. There are several ions present in the raw brine which precipitate out as different compounds with the addition of chemicals throughout the process. The specific chemicals used are provided in Section 3 when constructing the life cycle inventory analysis.



Figure 2-7: General process to concentrate raw lithium brine in the Salar de Atacama (adapted from Cerda et al., 2021).

# 2.6 Land Use & Land Cover Changes (LULUCC)

Changes in natural environmental conditions and anthropogenic activities affect global land use and land cover changes (LULUCC). Land cover is defined as the physical and biotic character of the land surface such as forests, water bodies, grasslands and mangroves while land use denotes anthropogenic activities which transform land cover into the built environment (Kelly-Fair et al., 2022). The exploitation of natural resources contributes to land-cover changes which can degrade ecosystems and the services that they provide (Foley et al., 2005) and can have long-term climatic impacts due to the alteration of the planet's biophysical, biogeochemical and energy exchange processes (Kelly-Fair et al., 2022). Within the context of decarbonizing our world, the increase in demand of ECEs invariably results in LULUCC as a result of mining activities that transform the land to extract minerals. Within the context of the SdA, the land use for lithium extraction via brine inspissation, shown in Figure 2-8, has expanded at an average annual rate of 7.07% from 1997-2017 (Liu and Agusdinata, 2019). With plans to increase lithium production output (SQM, 2022) there is the possibility for further increase of land use for lithium extraction operations and potential environmental impacts. Therefore, limiting or reducing the amount of land needed to produce lithium products may be an environmentally friendly alternative and can be evaluated by calculating the current land-use intensity of brine inspissation operations and comparing it with the expected land use intensity of a commercial MCr facility and processing plant. Importantly, increased land-use intensity is not always a net benefit (Felipe-Lucia et al., 2020) but in the context of land use in the SdA, identifying the current LUI of brine inspissation compared to MCr may be valuable for future research.



Figure 2-8: Spatial map of lithium extraction land use increase from 1997-2017 (adapted from Liu and Agusdinata, 2019).

# 3 Methodological Framework

Section 3 'Methodological Framework' is divided into four sections which each correspond to the 3 subresearch questions. Section 3.1 'SdA Brine Inspissation Environmental Impacts' discusses the method used to answer sub-research question 1 by using a narrative literature review to provide a succinct understanding of the currently known environmental impacts due to brine extraction in the SdA. Section 3.2 'Improved Lithium Technologies Criteria' also uses a narrative literature review to determine the most salient criteria for which new lithium extraction technologies should aim to improve. Section 3.3 'Potential Environmental Impacts of MCr' discusses the methodological approach used for the scale up process and the ex-ante LCA. Section 3.4 'Land Area & Land Use Intensity' discusses the methodological approach used to (1) calculate the land area used for current brine inspissation and processing facilities in the SdA (2) calculate the land-use intensity (LUI) of current brine inspissation and processing facilities (3) calculate the land area needed to supply the MCr facility with solar photovoltaic (PV) energy and (4) calculate the theoretical LUI of the MCr plant and processing facility.

# 3.1 SdA Brine Inspissation Environmental Impacts

# 3.1.1 Narrative Literature Review Methodology

Assessing the environmental impacts of brine inspissation in the SdA was accomplished using a narrative literature review. A narrative literature review aims to assess what has been already published and also seeks to identify new study areas not already addressed (Ferrari, 2015). While PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) provides reporting guidelines for systematic literature reviews (SLRs), no codified guidelines exist for narrative literature reviews (Ferrari, 2015).

# 3.1.1.1 Limitations of Narrative Literature Reviews

Tranfield et al. (2003) suggests that because of the informality, implicit biases of the author are difficult to avoid. Additionally, Snyder (2019) suggests that narrative reviews can lack thoroughness and systematicity due to selective assumptions of the author. While these are important considerations, for the purpose and goal of this research, the narrative review has been chosen based on a preliminary search that revealed a relatively small body of articles that fit the criteria needed for this research. The selection criteria of this research will be elaborated upon in Section 3.1.2.

# 3.1.1.2 Search Terms

The literature search strategy that was used for this narrative review aimed to gather articles focusing on the environmental impacts in the SdA or near the SdA that were attributable to lithium brine extraction, inspissation and processing. The databases that were searched were Scopus and Google Scholar with the date filter set to 2000 to 2022 and articles could be in English and Spanish. Concepts included in the search are provided in Table 3-1 below.

Lithium mining impacts	Lithium evaporation	Lithium mining impacts	Lithium evaporation
Salar de Atacama	ponds environmental	Salar de Atacama	ponds environmental
	impacts Salar de Atacama		impacts Salar de
			Atacama
Lithium mining	Lithium industry	Lithium mining	Lithium industry
environmental impacts	environmental impacts	environmental impacts	environmental impacts
Salar de Atacama	Chile	Salar de Atacama	Chile
Lithium mining	Lithium industry	Lithium mining	Lithium industry
environmental damage	environmental impacts	environmental damage	environmental impacts
Salar de Atacama	Salar de Atacama	Salar de Atacama	Salar de Atacama
Lithium extraction	Lithium Extraction LCA	Lithium extraction	Lithium Extraction LCA
impacts Salar de Atacama		impacts Salar de Atacama	

Table 3-1: Search terms used for narrative review of environmental impacts related to lithium extraction in the SdA.

# 3.1.1.3 Selection Criteria

The selection criteria for literature that constitutes the narrative review are articles that specifically discuss and provide qualitative and quantitative peer-reviewed evidence of environmental impacts are attributable to lithium extraction from the SdA. First, articles with titles that included at least some or all of the keywords listed in Table 1 were collected. Afterwards, article abstract and conclusion sections were read to ensure the articles pertained to environmental impacts of lithium extraction in the SdA. Of the articles that met those criteria, they were cataloged, read and critically examined to gather information which met the overarching selection criteria. In addition, the reference lists of articles that met the overarching selection criteria to further obtain information about the known environmental impacts of lithium extraction in the SdA. The selected articles constitute the narrative review and provides a current and succinct understanding of the known environmental impacts in the SdA related to lithium extraction.

# 3.2 Criteria for Improved Lithium Extraction Technologies

A narrative literature review was also used to identify the criteria for improved lithium extraction technologies specifically as they relate to lithium rich brine sources.

# 3.2.1 Search Terms

The literature search strategy that was used for this narrative review aimed to gather articles focusing on discussions regarding improved lithium extraction techniques from brine and the criteria upon which they are measured as improvements. Although the aim of this research is to evaluate the potential environmental impact of MCr, addressing the potential trade-offs or burden shifts of different lithium extraction techniques from brine should be well understood. The databases that were searched were Scopus and Google Scholar with the date filter set to 2000 to 2022 and articles were in English. Concepts included in the search are provided in Table 3-2.

Improved lithium brine	Advances in lithium	Sustainable lithium	Emerging technologies
extraction technologies	brine extraction	brine extraction	for lithium brine
	technologies	technologies	extraction
Efficient lithium brine	Green technologies for	New lithium brine	Future lithium brine
extraction technologies	lithium brine extraction	extraction technologies	extraction technologies

Table 2 2. Coareb torma used	for parrative review o	financould lithium hrin	a autraction tachnology aritaria
100P 3-7 SPOTOLIPTINS USED	<i>TOL HOLLOUVE LEVIEW O</i>	1 11110107020 11111111111111110111	P $P$ $X$ $III O (III O (III P (III O (O O V (III P (IO)))))$

#### 3.2.2 Selection Criteria

The selection criteria for literature that constitutes the narrative review are articles that specifically discuss and provide qualitative and quantitative peer-reviewed evidence or theories of improved lithium brine extraction techniques. First, articles with titles that included at least some or all of the keywords listed in Table 2 were collected. Afterwards, article abstract and conclusion sections were read to ensure the articles pertained to discussions regarding improved lithium brine extraction technologies. Of the articles that met those criteria, they were cataloged, read and critically examined to gather information which met the overarching selection criteria. In addition, the reference lists of articles that met the overarching selection criteria to further obtain information regarding improved lithium brine extraction technologies. The selected articles constitute the narrative review and provides a current and succinct understanding of the main criteria upon which improved lithium brine extraction techniques can be measured or theorized.

# 3.3 Potential Environmental Impacts of MCr

This section describes the methodological steps taken to identify the potential environmental impacts of using MCr for lithium brine concentration coupled with the lithium carbonation process. Section 3.3.1 discusses the scale-up process that was used to generate the mass and energy balance of a commercial scale MCr plant and provides the LCI of producing 1 ton of concentrated lithium brine using MCr. Section 3.3.2 provides the methodological approach for the ex-ante comparative LCA. Section 3.3.3 discusses the methodological approach to determine the land use intensity of current lithium brine extraction operations in the SdA as well as the approach used to determine the potential land use intensity of a commercial scale MCr operation powered by solar photovoltaic energy.

# 3.3.1 MCr Scale-Up

This section discusses the methods used to construct a reasonable scale-up scenario which generally follows the framework proposed by Tsoy et al. (2020). The first step involves designing a conceptual scenario for the new technology which is detailed in Section 3.3.1.1. The second step was to develop an LCA flowchart. The third step involved process modeling to determine the energy and mass balance for the entire plant based on the scenario defined in Section 3.3.1.1 as well as the LCI for producing 1 ton of concentrated lithium brine. Important assumptions and limitations are discussed throughout each subsection.

#### 3.3.1.1.1 Technological Consistency

As previously discussed in Section 2.2.2, scale-ups used for LCA benefit from clearly indicating the current TRL and MRL of the technologies being compared as well as the future scenario TRL and MRL at which they will be compared. Additionally, the background and foreground datasets should be temporally, geographically and technologically consistent as possible. Therefore, the first step was to determine the current TRL and MRL of MCr technology for lithium brine concentration. Based off of the framework presented in Figure 2 by Moni et al. (2020), MCr for lithium recovery is currently at a TRL and MRL of 5. The TRL and MRL of 5 is based on the fact that there is 'laboratory scale system validation in a relevant environment' as shown in Cerda et al. (2021) and Quilaqueo et al. (2022), and there is a 'production of prototype in a simulated environment' with simulation data which has been gathered during this research from AMTC. To appropriately compare MCr and brine inspissation, they must both be compared at the same TRL and MRL. Brine inspissation is already at the highest TRL which corresponds to an MRL of 10 because it is characterized by 'lean mass production'. Therefore, the MCr scenario must be constructed to be equivalent to MRL 10.

# Temporal Consistency

Providing the temporal consistency between the two product systems is important because they are both modeled at a future point in time. Since a dramatic increase in production is needed before 2030 (AltaLey, 2022; McKinsey, 2022) and all of the necessary planning, validation, permitting, construction and production take significant amounts of time, the chosen operational year is 2027, five years from now. The brine inspissation and processing facilities are already constructed and scheduled to expand in the coming years with output steadily increasing (SQM, 2022). To account for the temporal change in the exante LCA, the electricity mix was modeled based on Chilean government reports which aim to have 70% renewable energy in their electricity mix by 2030 (International Trade Administration, 2022). While there are several other considerations for foreground and background system changes in 2027-2030, due to the time constraints and difficulty of obtaining such data, only the change in electricity mix is accounted for.

# 3.3.1.2 Conceptual MCr Commercial Plant Scenario

To construct the scenario, several assumptions and choices were made. The most important assumption that was made was that the MCr plant would operate without major challenges related to membrane fouling or the feasibility of mass production however in reality, these are challenges that still need to be resolved. The second assumption made pertains to the capacity of the MCr facility which is reflected in the chosen raw brine input flow rate for the MCr plant. An input flow rate of 1000 kg/s of raw brine was chosen based on the fact that the environmental permits currently allocated to SQM and Albemarle for brine pumping are 1600 L/s and 442 L/s, respectively (AltaLey, 2022). An input flow rate of 1000 kg/s was chosen for the MCr plant due to the fact that pumping at the same rate as SQM is likely unfeasible due to the precariousness of water and brine extraction in the SdA and because the MCr facility is meant to be a supplement to existing production and not a complete substitute.

There were several other assumptions that were made for the scenario which will be elaborated upon for transparency of this research. Besides the absence of membrane fouling modeling, the construction of the MCr facility infrastructure was not accounted for which includes among other things, the pumping equipment, pipes, valves, holding tanks, gravitational settlers, lighting, electrical equipment etc. However, because membranes play a central role in the technology and their environmental impact from manufacturing is not insignificant (Yadav et al., 2022), an estimate of their contribution to the LCA impacts is accounted for in the LCI. Additionally, the constructed scenario also supposes that the MCr plant which would be built in the SdA would also include a Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> processing facility alongside it. The construction and operation of the processing facility is also not accounted for but since it would be next to the MCr facility, transportation is considered negligible.

Importantly, potassium chloride (KCl) is a co-product during the MCr process but it cannot be subdivided due to the nature of the process and therefore to deal with this in the LCA, system expansion is used. Furthermore, the remaining solutes that precipitate as by products include the crystals halite (NaCl), K-Carnallite (KMgCl<sub>2</sub>6H<sub>2</sub>O) and bischofite (MgCl<sub>2</sub>6H<sub>2</sub>O) which are treated as waste. The software application Figma was used to illustrate the LCA flowchart which represents the MCr process and system boundaries and is provided in Figure 3-1 below. The unit process 'MCr' and 'Separation Process' on the flowchart are not included in the life cycle inventory because during those processes, brine is flowing through the membranes and crystallizing which do not require inputs but are nonetheless a unit process. During the separation process, gravity is used to separate the component crystals and concentrated brine and although it may require inputs or electricity, they were not modeled by AMTC.



Figure 3-1: System diagram of MCr process for ex-ante LCA.

## 3.3.1.3 Mass and Energy Balance of MCr

The model was developed by the process development team of AMTC, University of Chile. In addition to the assumptions and constraints previously mentioned, the modeling of the MCr process depended on the composition of the input brine (Appendix 8.1) modeled after the composition used in the study by Cerda et al. (2021) and acutely reflects the native brine composition at the SdA. The model was also constrained by the input parameters for the membrane modules which are represented in Appendix 8.2. In addition, the default transmembrane flux was set at 2.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>/hr. The capacity factor of the plant was also assumed to be 70%. There were also several electrical efficiencies and a coefficient of performance assumed in the model to account for brine heating, pumping and distillate cooling which are provided in the Appendix 8.3.

To simulate water recovery and crystal formation in realistic conditions, the model was based on a configuration of multiple membrane modules in series with stages in series. The multiple stages indicate that there is consecutive heating of the brine flow because after passing through membrane modules, the brine temperature decreases due to conductive heat losses between the cold permeate/distillate side and the hot brine feed side in each membrane module. Several mathematical expressions were programmed in the software MATLAB and implemented using numerical solver to simulate the entire MCr process to obtain results including water recovery, temperatures, mass of crystals, and required electrical energy needed for the pumping, heating and cooling processes of the entire commercial scale process.

The module is assumed to be a steady state process of two phases with transfer of mass and energy. The main equations used in the process modeling are shown in Table 3-3 below. The equations listed correspond to the mass and energy transfer diagram shown in Figure 3-2 and Table 3-4 below.

Mass Balance	Energy Balance	Heat Transfer
$F_2 = F_1 + F_w$ $F_W = F_1 \cdot (1 - \sum w_1) \cdot \frac{\% Rec}{100}$ $F_3 + F_w = F_4$	$F_1 \cdot cp_b \cdot T_1 = F_2 \cdot cp_b \cdot T_2 + Q$ $F_4 \cdot cp_w \cdot T_4 + Q = F_3 \cdot cp_w \cdot T_3$	$Q = \frac{Q_{ev} - \phi \cdot Q_{ev}}{\phi} + F_w \cdot H$ $H = 1.7535 \cdot T_{avg} + 2024.3$ $T_{avg} = \frac{(T_2 - T_3) - (T_1 - T_4)}{\ln \frac{T_2 - T_3}{T_1 - T_4}}$
Other	1.7535 (heat capacity of water	2024.3 (enthalpy of water
	vapor)	vapor)


Figure 3-2: Mass & Energy balance diagram corresponding to Table 3-3 and Table 3-4.

Table 3-4: Description of different variables in mass and energy balance modeling.

Variable	Description	Subindex	Description	lons	Crystals
F	Mass Flow	1	Inlet Brine	Na+	NaCl
W	Vector of ions	2	Outlet Brine	K+	KCI
w <sub>c</sub>	Vector of crystals	3	Inlet Distillate	Mg+2	KMgCl3· 6H2O
Т	Temperature	4	Outlet	Li+	MgCl2 · 6H2O
			Distillate		
Q	Heat Transfer	w	Water	Cl-	LiCl · MgCl2·7H2O
ср	Heat capacity	b	Brine		
φ	Thermal	avg	Average		
	Efficiency				

The formation of crystals was estimated according to the saturation index (SI) of each crystal component according to the following expressions in Table 3-5 which were used to obtain the ion activities as a function of the brine concentration and temperature. The saturation index is used to determine if the conditions are appropriate for each crystal formation and if the SI is greater than zero, the respective aqueous ions will assemble themselves into crystals.

Table 3-5: Equations	used to	o model	crystal	formation.
----------------------	---------	---------	---------	------------

ruble o or Equations used to model erystar jormation.							
Saturation Index	Ionic Activity Product	Constant Solubility Product					
$SI = \log \frac{IAP}{K_{sp}}$	$IAP = \frac{\prod_i a_P^i}{\prod_j a_R^j}$	$K_{sp} = K_{sp_0} \cdot \exp\left(\frac{\Delta H_{rx}}{R} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_0}\right)\right)$					

The following section presents the results of the model including the input and output parameters on an annual basis. The choice to present the results of the scale up in this section is based on the fact that they are used in the ex-ante LCA methodological section and providing them after the methodological section would interrupt the flow of the report.

### 3.3.1.4 Annual MCr Operational Parameters

Table 3-8 on the following page illustrates the annual inputs and outputs of a commercial scale MCr plant. The  $Li_2CO_3$  equivalent output was calculated based on the mass composition of  $Li_2CO_3$  and the concentration of the lithium brine output which is 4 wt. %. Importantly, the energy consumption of producing  $Li_2CO_3$  is not included in Table 3-8 because that data is part of the Kelly et al. (2021) dataset which the MCr brine is used in, however that energy usage is accounted for in the LCA. Building on the assumption that 4 tons of raw brine at a Li concentration of 5-6 wt. % are needed to produce 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  according to the LCI dataset of Kelly et al. (2021), it is likely that more brine with less concentration would be needed to produce 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$ . To calculate this the mass percent composition of  $Li_2CO_3$  was calculated in Table 3-6 and the percentage of lithium in  $Li_2CO_3$  was divided by the weight percentage of Li in the output brine and shown below:

$$\frac{\% Li \ per \ Li2CO3}{Weight \ Percentage \ Li \ in \ Brine} = \frac{.188}{.04} = 4.697$$

Mass Percent Composition of Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	Atoms	Mass (g)	Total Mass (g)	%
Lithium	2	6.941	13.882	18.79
Carbon	1	12.011	12.011	16.26
Oxygen	3	15.999	49.997	64.96
Total			73.89	100

Table 3-6: Mass Percent Composition of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>

Table 3-7 shows the relative proportion of brine needed to produce 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  depending on the brine concentration.

Table 3-7: Proportion of brine needed depending on concentration	
--	--

Technology	Brine Concentration	Required input (tons)	Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> (ton)
Brine Inspissation	5-6 wt. %	4	1
MCr	4 wt. %	4.697	1

Annual Mass & Energy Balance of MCr Facility							
Inputs	Unit	Value					
Aqueous							
Raw Brine	Mton/year	22.08					
Energy							
Brine Pumping	TWh/year	0.1					
Distillate Cooling	TWh/year	1.81					
Brine Heating	TWh/year	3.51					
Total Energy	TWh/year	5.42					
Outputs							
Crystals							
Halite Crystal (NaCl)	Mton/year	4.14					
Sylvinite Crystal (KCl)	Mton/year	0.76					
K-Carnallite Crystal (KMgCl <sub>2</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O)	Mton/year	0.23					
Bischofite Crystal (MgCl <sub>2</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O)	Mton/year	0.74					
Aqueous							
Freshwater	Mton/year	14.13					
Concentrated Brine 4% wt.	Mton/year	0.61					
Other							
Membrane Modules	-	46,080					
Lithium Recovery Efficiency	%	74.7					
Water Recovery Efficiency	%	64					
Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Equivalent	Mton/year	0.1					

Table 3-8: Annual Mass & Energy Balance of Commercial Scale MCr Facility.

Table 3-9 below provides the basis of the LCI for producing 1 ton of lithium brine via MCr. The weight of the solutes contained in the brine were calculated based on the brine composition in Appendix 8.1 and the input of raw brine calculated by the model. Importantly, this table does not represent the exact inputs and outputs that are used in Simapro because it does not include the type of electricity used or the inputs of the membrane material used in the process. The LCIs that are used for the ex-ante LCA are provided in Section 3.4.4.

* Indicates part of the raw brine, which together replace the 'raw brine' flow						
Product Material Input	Normalized to 1 ton Brine	Unit				
Raw Brine	3.63E+01	t				
Sodium*	2.77E+00	t				
Potassium*	7.70E-01	t				
Lithium*	5.40E-02	t				
Magnesium*	3.48E-01	t				
Calcium*	0.00E+00	t				
Sulfate*	0.00E+00	t				
Chlorine*	5.79E+00	t				
Boron*	2.10E-02	t				
Water Content in Brine*	2.43E+01	m3				
Energy Input						
Brine Pumping	169.86	kWh				
Distillate Cooling	2964.91	kWh				
Brine Heating	5769.43	kWh				
Output						
Concentrated Brine 4 wt. %	1.00E+00	t				
Freshwater	2.32E+01	t				
Halite Crystal Output (NaCl)	6.8E+00	t				
Sylvinite Crystal Output (KCl)	1.24E+03	t				
K-Carnallite Crystal Output	3.80E-1	t				
(KMgCl26H20)						
Bischofite Crystal Output	1.22E+00	t				
(MgCl26H20)						

# Table 3-9: Scaled LCI values derived from annual mass & energy balance.

### Page | 41

# 3.4 Ex-Ante Comparative Life Cycle Assessment

This section discusses several steps included in the methodological approach for the ex-ante comparative LCA including the goal and scope definition, the life cycle inventory analysis of the two product systems, the impact assessment methodologies used, and the interpretation stage which deals with the sensitivity analysis.

### 3.4.1 Goal Definition

The goal of this study is to compare the potential environmental impacts associated with producing the functional unit of 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  via MCr and via brine inspissation. Although it is advised to refrain from using only a quantity as a functional unit, 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  is molecularly the same as another ton of lithium carbonate assuming their purities are the same, which is likely given that they are processed to be inputs into lithium battery production and other end-uses. This study provides a comparison between a theoretical commercial scale MCr plant which produces lithium rich brine concentrated to 4 wt. % coupled with a processing facility and the traditional brine inspissation process which concentrates lithium brine between 5 and 6 wt. %, also coupled with a processing facility. While the brines themselves could serve as a functional unit, in both cases they differ in concentration potential, and so the functional unit of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> is chosen which allows for a more practical comparison because ultimately, LCE products are the main products in the worldwide market and not concentrated lithium brines. The reason this study is being conducted is because it may provide micro-level decision support for process engineers, chemical engineers and other technologists to improve the MCr process in terms of what may be environmentally preferable. The additional target audience of this study includes academics, LCA practitioners and technologists within the lithium extraction industry. While AMTC participates in the study to provide process data for the scale-up it was not explicitly commissioned by them. Furthermore, this study will not be disclosed to the public as it will not undergo a third-party independent review.

The standardized methodological approach for this LCA uses the ISO 14040 (2006) and ISO 14044 (2006) guidelines. This study also draws on recommendations and methodological tips found in Hauschild et al. (2018). The LCA process was assisted by the software SimaPro 9.2.0.2 which utilized the Ecoinvent v3 database and the Environmental Footprint 3.0 (EF) Impact Assessment Methodology. The specific midpoint categories that were chosen for this research are global warming potential, acidification, water use, resource use (metals and minerals) and cumulative energy demand (CED). These midpoint categories are focused on because it is expected that the global warming potentials of the two different brine concentration routes will vary significantly due to the fact that brine inspissation relies mainly on solar energy to evaporate and concentrate the brine whereas MCr relies heavily on electricity used for pumping, heating and cooling throughout the process. Water use is focused on because of the stark differences in water recovery expected between the two technologies, due to the fact that MCr has the potential to recover a significant amount of freshwater while brine inspissation is unable to recover freshwater. Resource depletion is considered because both technologies extract significant resources from the SdA and elsewhere to process Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Acidification is measured because the use of chemicals in the technologies could have the potential to pose an adverse environmental impact. Other midpoint indicators found in EF were omitted so that the key midpoint categories that are anticipated to be important are focused on. Lastly, to assess the land use and land use intensity, a different methodological approach was used which is discussed in Section 3.5.

### 3.4.2 Scope Definition

The scope of this study can be subdivided into the geographic, temporal and technological scope. Handling of multifunctional processes will also be discussed.

### 3.4.2.1 Geographic Scope

The geographic scope of this study applies to the SdA located in northern Chile and depicted in Figure X. In the SdA the brine is extracted and concentrated, either through the evaporative process during brine inspissation or in the case of MCr, the brine is extracted and then concentrated in the membrane modules. As previously discussed, brine from the inspissation process is transferred to a processing facility near Antofagasta. Based on the MCr scenario described in the previous section, the processing facility would also be constructed next to the MCr facility within the SdA, to minimize transportation impacts.

# 3.4.2.2 Temporal Scope

The temporal scope of this study is particularly important due to the nature of an ex-ante LCA study. As previously discussed, the MCr scenario operates in year 2027, and the brine inspissation process is also compared in the same year. It is exceedingly difficult to obtain industry datasets of lithium extraction due to the proprietary nature of their businesses. However, the datasets that are used are retrieved from the most recent academic LCA studies by Kelly et al. (2021) and Chordia et al. (2022) in addition to the data gathered from AMTC for the scale-up. These datasets are explained further in Section 3.4.3.

### 3.4.2.3 Technological Scope

Two different technologies can produce two identical products despite being associated with different sets of unit processes and related flows (Hauschild et al., 2018). In this research, the two main technologies under study are the brine inspissation process and the MCr process, both of which concentrate brine to slightly different concentrations. These concentrated brines are the input to the next process which is the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production process. Due to the fact that Ecoinvent's data for brine inspissation and lithium carbonate production are 10 years outdated, the dataset provided by Kelly et al. (2021) and further adapted by Chordia et al. (2022) for Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production is the dataset used. The figure below shows how the different datasets are used with each other. In addition, the dataset by Hu et al. (2022) for the manufacturing of PVDF. The reason to include PVDF in the MCr LCl is because it is used throughout the lifetime of the plant, serves as the basis of the technology and may have considerable environmental impacts (Yadav et al., 2022). Figure 3-3 illustrates the datasets that were linked for this research.





# 3.4.2.4 Multifunctionality

Both MCr and brine inspissation produce potassium chloride (KCl) as a co-product however, the two technologies are different and Kelly et al. (2021) handled multifunctionality by subdividing the process into lithium brine production and potash production. Therefore, the unit process data for producing lithium brine from Kelly et al. (2021) attributes all environmental burdens to the lithium brine production because the potash production was subdivided out. However, with MCr technology, the process cannot be subdivided due to the nature of the technology and although system expansion would be used if subdivision is not possible, the choice was made to allocate all environmental burdens during the MCr process to lithium brine concentration.

### Page | 44

# 3.4.3 Life Cycle Inventory Analysis

This section describes the LCI analysis divided into three sections. The first section discusses the LCI for producing brine via MCr and the different methods used model the electricity mix and account for membrane module impacts. The second section discusses the LCI for brine inspissation and the third section discusses the LCI for Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> processing which both brine inspissation and MCr feed into.

### 3.4.4 MCr

### 3.4.4.1 Electricity Mix

Since the electricity mix is forecasted to be 70% renewable by 2030, the electricity mix used for the background process was remodeled based on the market mix for electricity in Chile and is used for the 2027 scenario. This was decided because the current electricity market mix in Chile is based off of 2017 data and would therefore not be representative of a 2027 scenario. The process of relinking the remodeled electricity market mix is shown in Figure 3-4 below. The high voltage mix was remodeled to be composed of 70% renewable energy sources which were divided between wind, solar and hydro. The LCI dataset for the original high voltage mix is provided in Appendix 8.4. The remodeled 70% mix is provided in Table 3-10 below. Importantly, most data needed for the Chilean electricity mix was not available for Chile specifically, so {RoW} and {GLO} data was used, which is also what is used in the original Ecoinvent process and therefore may not be entirely representative of Chile.



	Normalized to Unit			
Product Material Input	Process	Unit	Category	Notes
Transmission network, electricity, high voltage {GLO}  market for   Cut-off, U	6.58	km	GLO	
Transmission network, long- distance {GLO}  market for   Cut-off, U	3.17E-10	km	GLO	
Electricity, high voltage {RoW}  electricity production, hydro, run-of- river   Cut-off, U	0.3	kWh	RoW	
Electricity, high voltage {RoW}  electricity production, natural gas, conventional power plant   Cut-off, U	0.3	kWh	RoW	
Electricity, high voltage {RoW}  electricity production, solar tower power plant, 20 MW   Cut- off. U	0.2	kWh	RoW	
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, wind, >3MW turbine, onshore   Cut-off, U	0.2	kWh	CL	
Output				
Chile 2030 High Voltage Electricity 70% RE	1	kWh		Re-modeled based on electricity, high voltage {CL}  market for   Cut-off, U
Dinitrogen monoxide	5.00E-06	kg		pollution from high voltage lines ionizing air molecules
Ozone	4.15	kg		pollution from high voltage lines ionizing air molecules

Table 3-10: Chile 2030 Electricity Mix Unit Process Data.

# 3.5 PVDF Membranes

To account for the use of membranes in the lithium concentration process, assumptions were made based on the following. The commercial plant requires 46,080 membrane modules, which are a result of the process modeling and module specifications. Assuming a 20% replacement rate of modules every 5 years and a plant lifetime of 20 years, 9,216 membrane modules will need to be replaced every 5 years. Over the 20-year lifetime of the plant, 82,944 membrane modules are required. However, the membrane modules which were used in the process modeling, which provided the constraints in the model are no longer being manufactured (Jinhuimo Intl. Trading, Personal communication, July 7, 2022). However, a similar membrane is offered by the membrane manufacturer which has an interior of 50 m<sup>2</sup> instead of 20 m<sup>2</sup>. Assuming the membranes operate similarly, and the transmembrane flux of 2.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>/hr stays the same, less membranes would be required for the same output because 20 m<sup>2</sup> is 40% of 50 m2. Therefore, the amount of membrane modules needed with an interior membrane area of 50 m<sup>2</sup> is 33,178.

According to the manufacturer, Jinhuimo, the membrane model UFcOA2860, made of PVDF, has a net weight when empty of 48 kg. Multiplying the amount of membrane modules used over the 20-year plant lifetime with the net empty weight of the PVDF module results in 1,592,544 kg of PVDF or 1.59 kilotons of PVDF. To determine how many kgs of PVDF is used per ton of Li brine, two calculations are required. First, 33,178 membrane modules are divided by the lifetime output of brine which according to Table 3-8 is 610,000 kilotons which results in .054 membrane modules per ton of lithium brine. Secondly, .054 membrane modules multiplied by 48 kg results in 2.61 kg of PVDF per ton of Li brine.

To account for the use of membrane modules per 1 ton of lithium brine, the recent and only dataset for PVDF production is used which was obtained from Hu et al. (2022). Importantly, two different routes of producing PVDF are explored in the study by Hu et al. (2022), and route 1, which has larger environmental impacts is chosen because it provides a more conservative estimate of the impact of using PVDF membrane modules in MCr for lithium extraction. Importantly, the dataset by Hu et al. (2022) found in Appendix 8.5, does not specify the regions for the various inputs including materials and energy, so {RoW} and {GLO} were chosen when re-modeling it. The dataset created for this research, based on Hu et al. (2022) can be found below in Table 3-11 below.

	Unit Process for Producing 1 kg PVDF (Route 1)								
Reactant	Amoun t	Uni t	Materials	Ecoinvent Source	Amoun t	Uni t	Electricit	Source	
R-132b	2.17	kg	trichloroethylene	Trichloroethylene, at plant/WEU U	2.17	kg	7.5516	Electricity , medium voltage {GLO}  market group for   Cut-off, U	
			hydrogen fluoride	Hydrogen fluoride, at plant/GLO U	1.085	kg			
			ultrapure water	water, ultrapure {RoW}  market for water, ultrapure   Cut-off, U	0.217	kg			
hydrogen	0.13	kg	hydrogen	hydrogen, gaseous {GLO}  market for hydrogen, gaseous   Cut- off, U	0.13		30	Electricity , medium voltage {GLO}  market group for   Cut-off, U	
tri- isobutyl borane	0.1	kg	butene	Butene, mixed {RoW}  market for butene, mixed   Cut-off, U	0.4782	kg	12	Electricity , medium voltage {GLO}  market group for   Cut-off, U	
			decarbonized water	water, decarbonized {RoW}  market for water, decarbonized   Cut-off, U	0.1536	kg			
			sodium tetrahydridoborat e	Sodium tetrahydridoborate {GLO}  market for   Cut- off, U	0.1				
			acetic acid	Acetic acid, at plant/kg/RNA	0.1				

### Table 3-11: Unit Process for Producing 1 kg PVDF (Route 1)

After creating the datasets to account for membrane module usage and the electricity mix, the LCI data table was constructed for producing 1 ton of concentrated lithium brine via MCr which can be found in Table 3-12 below. The total raw brine amount is shown and is composed of water content and the constituent elements which are denoted with an asterisk and are used as inputs to represent the raw brine input.

LCI of C					
Product	Normalized to Unit		Provider in		
Material Input	Process	Unit	Ecoinvent	Category	Notes
Raw Brine	36.30	t			
				Resource/ in	
Sodium*	2.77	t	Sodium	ground	
				Resource/ in	
Potassium*	0.77	t	Potassium	ground	
				Resource/ in	
Lithium*	0.05	t	Lithium	ground	
				Resource/ in	
Magnesium*	0.35	t	Magnesium	ground	
				Resource/ in	
Chlorine*	5.79	t	Chorine	ground	
				Resource/ in	
Boron*	0.02	t	Boron	ground	
			water,		Used to
			unspecified		account
Water Content			natural origin,	Resource/ in	for water
in Brine*	24.27	m3	CL	water	extraction
					(Hu et al.,
PVDF (Route 1)	2.16	kg	-	-	2022)
	Normalized				
	to Unit		Provider in		
Energy Input	Process	Unit	Ecoinvent	Category	Notes
Brine Pumning	169.87	k\//h	_	_	*Chile
Dincrumping	105.07	K VVII			2030
Distillate	2064.02	1.3.4./.			Electricity
Cooling	2964.92	KVVN	-	-	Mix
Brine Heating	5769.43	kWh	-	-	
	Normalized				
	to Unit		Provider in		
Output	Process	Unit	Ecoinvent	Category	Notes
					Input for
Concentrated					Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>
Brine 4 wt%.	1.00	t	-	-	Production
				emissions to	
Freshwater	23.2	t	water, CL	water	
					Bischofite.
				Final Waste	, Halite, K-
Salts	8.4	t		Flows	Carnallite

Table 3-12: LCI of producing 1 ton lithium brine 4 wt%. via MCr.

### 3.5.1.1 Brine Inspissation

A system diagram of the brine inspissation process can be seen below in Figure 3-5. It closely follows the general process explained in the theoretical background which includes consecutive evaporation ponds however Kelly et al. (2021) did not report any chemical usage during the inspissation process. In addition, the data was adapted by Chordia et al. (2022) to be used in Ecoinvent instead of GREET. The blue square denotes potash production which was subdivided while the grey squares denote lithium brine production from which the LCI dataset is based on.



Figure 3-5: System diagram of brine inspissation (adapted from Kelly et al., 2021).

The LCI dataset for lithium brine production via brine inspissation is in Table 3-13 below. Similar to the LCI dataset for the MCr process, the material inputs denoted with an asterisk represent the constituent components of the brine which include the water and solutes contained in the brine.

LCI Concentrated Brine Production via Inspissation								
Product	Normalized to	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes			
Material	Unit Process							
Input								
Raw Brine	2.30E+02	t		Resource/ in	* Items replace raw			
				ground	brine flow			
Sodium*	1.75E+01	t	Sodium	Resource/ in				
		-		ground				
				0.000				
Potassium*	4 26E±00	+	Potassium	Pesource/in				
FOLASSIUIT	4.201+00	Ľ	rolassium	ground				
1.11.1	2.045.04							
Litnium*	3.91E-01	τ	Litnium	Resource/ In				
				ground				
Magnesiu	2.21E+00	t	Magnesium	Resource/ in				
m*				ground				
Calcium*	7.13E-02	t	Calcium	Resource/ in				
				ground				
Sulfate*	3.80E+00	t	Sulfate	Resource/ in				
				ground				
Chlorine*	3.69E+01	t	Chorine	Resource/ in				
				ground				
Boron*	1.47E-01	t	Boron	Resource/ in				
		-		ground				
Water	1 65E+02	m3	water unspecified	Resource/in	Used to account for			
Content in	1.032.02		natural origin Cl	water	water extraction			
Brine*				Water	Water extraction			
Energy	Normalized to	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes			
Input	Unit Process	•						
Electricity	7.60F+02	MI	Chile 2030 Electricity					
Licothony	71002.02		Mix*					
Diesel	6.57E+02	MJ	market for diesel.	GLO	Processes/Energy/			
			burned in building		Mechanical			
			machine					
Water	Normalized to	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes			
Input	Unit Process			54168019				
Freshwater	5.94F+00	t	Water lake Cl	Resource/in				
				water				
				mater				

Table 3-13: LCl of 1 Ton lithium brine 5-6 wt%. via brine inspissation.

Output	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes
Concentrat ed Li Brine 5-6 wt%.	1.00E+00	t	-	-	Input for Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Production

# $3.5.2 \quad Li_2CO_3 \ Processing$

The flowchart of the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production process has been adapted from Kelly et al. (2021) and is shown in Figure 3-6 below. The LCI dataset for Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production is based on the dataset by Kelly et al. (2021) however it was adapted by Chordia et al. (2022) to be used with Ecoinvent and that dataset is found in Table 3-14 below. There are a few important things to note, first, the brine input amount is variable depending on the concentration of brine that is used as an input. As previously mentioned, for the inspissation brine, 4 tons are used whereas for the MCr brine, 4.697 tons are used. Another important note is that in the dataset by Kelly et al. (2021), the authors did not indicate what proportion of materials were used and so they were evenly divided by Chordia et al. (2022), which is the same approach used in this research. In addition, the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production dataset includes the 2030 Chile electricity mix that was modeled for the electricity input. Lastly, the type of alcohol was not determined by Kelly et al. (2021) and so 'market for chemical, organic' is used in place of alcohol.





### Table 3-14: LCI of 1 ton Lithium Carbonate Production.

Life Cycle Inve					
Product Material Input	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes

Concentrated Brine	4 or 4.697	t	-	-	Variable, depending on
brine					brine
					concentration
Chemical and reagent input	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent	Category	Notes
Sodium Carbonate	2.00E+00	t	market for soda ash, dense	GLO	
Sulfuric Acid	1.60E-02	t	market for sulfuric acid	RoW	
Hydrochloric Acid	1.60E-02	t	market for HCl acid, without water, in 30% solution state	Row	
Calcium Oxide	1.60E-02	t	market for lime, hydrated, packed	RoW	
Solvent	1.60E-02	t	market for chemical, organic	GLO	
Alcohol	1.60E-02	t	market for chemical, organic	GLO	
Energy Input	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent		Notes
Electricity	1.50E+03	MJ	*Chile 2030 Electricity Mix	CL	
Diesel	4.00E+02	MJ	market for diesel, burned in building machine	GLO	
Heat	2.80E+03	MJ	market group for heat, district or industrial, natural gas	GLO	
Emission to air (non- combustion)	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit	Provider in Ecoinvent		Notes
PM 10	7.00E+02	g	particulates, >2.5 μm and <10 μm	Emission to air/ unspecified	

PM 2.5	4.00E+02	g	particulates, <2.5μm	Emission to air/ unspecified	
Output	Normalized to Unit Process	Unit			Notes
Lithium Carbonate	1.00E+00	t	-	-	-

# 3.5.3 Impact Categories

The impact categories that were chosen to evaluate the environmental impact of producing  $Li_2CO_3$  via brine inspissation and MCr for this research are climate change, water use, resource use (minerals and metals and acidification. These impact categories are chosen based on previous studies as well as the criteria that were determined as measures for improvement for new lithium extraction technologies. The impact categories and the models they are based on are shown in Table 3-15 below.

	5 1	5	
Impact Category	Indicator	Unit	Model
Climate change	Global Warming	Kg CO <sub>2eq.</sub>	IPCC (2013) baseline model of
	Potential (GWP)		100 years
Resource use	Abiotic resource	Kg Sb <sub>eq.</sub>	Based on van Oers et al. 2002,
(minerals & metals)	depletion		as implemented in CML v.4.8
	(ADP ultimate reserves)		(2016)
Water use	Weighted water	m <sup>3</sup> water	Available WAter REmaining
	deprivation potential for	deprivation	(AWARE) based on Boulay et al.
	humans & ecosystems		(2018)
Acidification	Accumulated exceedance	Mol H <sup>+</sup> eq.	Accumulated exceedance
	(AE)		(Seppälä et al. 2006, Posch et al.
			2008)
Climate Change	Cumulative Energy	GJ (based on	Based on Frischknecht et al.
	Demand (CED)	higher heating	(1998)
		values)	

Table 3-15: List of impact categories used in the LCA.

# Global Warming Potential (GWP)

GWP is a measure of the potential warming caused by greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions that trap heat in the atmosphere and increase radiative forcing. GHGs differ in their ability to absorb heat and how long they stay in the atmosphere. The impact assessment methodology proposed in the IPCC GWP 2013 edition accounts for the variations in GWP of different GHGs and represents GWP as a score expressed in terms of kg CO2 eq.

# Abiotic Resource Depletion Potential (ADP)

While there are several approaches that are heavily debated for assessing abiotic resource depletion potential, this research adopts the characterization model implemented in CML v4.8 (2016). The ADP method was originally developed by Guinée and Heijungs (1995) and was later updated by van Oers et al. (2002). Guinée and Heijungs (1995) method is based on a scarcity indicator that combines production

and reserves where production is in terms of world annual production P expressed in kg/year of a given element and reserves R which is the estimated ultimate global reserve expressed in kg of a given element. The CF is ADP quantified as kg of antimony-equivalent (SB-eq) per kg of extraction.

### Water Use

In this research, Available Water Remaining (AWARE) is the water use midpoint indicator that is used. The indicator represents the relative available water remaining per area in a watershed, after the demand of humans and aquatic ecosystems has been met. Importantly, it assesses the potential for water deprivation to either humans or ecosystems, by assuming that the less water remaining available per area in a watershed, the more likely another user (humans or ecosystems) will be water deprived (WULCA, 2022). The AWARE characterization factors (CF) are between 0.1 and 100, with a value of 1 representing the world average whereas a CF of 10, would represent a region where the available water per area is 10 times less than the world average (WULCA, 2022).

### Acidification

The acidification impact category is a measure of acidification potential (AP) which can occur either in terrestrial or freshwater ecosystems and accounts for the ability of contaminants to affect the pH level of those ecosystems. The calculated score is expressed in mol H<sup>+</sup> eq.

### Cumulative Energy Demand

CED measures the energy demand, measured as GJ primary energy, during the life cycle of a product and is a useful indicator of global warming potential due to the fact that fossil energy demand is primarily responsible for GWP and the depletion of fossil resources (Frischknecht et al., 1998).

# 3.6 Interpretation

### 3.6.1 Uncertainty Analysis

An intrinsic part of ex-ante LCAs are their high degree of uncertainty due to data often being estimated by experts or created by models despite the technology not yet existing at a large scale. This research chose to deal with uncertainty by using a pedigree matrix adapted from Hauschild et al. (2018) to describe the level of uncertainty for each of the datasets used within the LCA. Table 3-16 below classified the different levels of uncertainty.

Data Specificity	Reasoning
Very Low	Judgement by expert or LCA practitioner
Low	Generic LCI database process or data from literature, e.g., covering a mix of
	technologies in a country or region obtained from measurements at process
	site and scaled via modeling
Medium	LCI database process or data from literature specific to actual process, e.g.,
	according to best available technology standard or country average. Specificity
	may be improved by modifying a process with site specific data
High	Derived from measurements at specific process site via modeling
Very High	Measured directly at specific process site or scaled from measurement

Table 3-16: Uncertainty Analysis Matrix Table (adapted from Hauschild et al., 2018).

Based on an evaluation of the datasets used for the LCIs and unit process data in this research, Table 3-17 provides a data specificity indicator of the datasets used.

Dataset	Source	Data Specificity
MCr Annual Mass & Energy Balance &	AMTC	Low
Brine LCI		
Brine Inspissation & Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Production	Kelly et al. (2021)	Low
LCIs		
PVDF Membrane Production Data	Hu et al. (2022)	Low
Chile Electricity Mix 2030	Edited Ecoinvent Processes	Low
SQM Land Use & Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> Production	SQM (2022)	Very High

Table 3-17: Uncertainty analysis of datasets used throughout this research.

# 3.6.2 Sensitivity Analysis

Due to the fact that the main difference between the brine inspissation and the MCr technology is the energy usage, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to explore the difference in environmental impacts if 100% renewable electricity was used for the MCr facility and the processing facility. Importantly, since the facilities for brine inspissation and processing are already constructed, the sensitivity analysis only models the MCr and processing facility with 100% renewable electricity because they have not been built yet. Due to the fact that the SdA has one of the highest amounts solar PV potentials, the sensitivity analysis uses solar PV for the electricity background process. However, Ecoinvent does not have utility-scale solar PV processes so Argentina was used as a proxy based on regional similarity. The electricity process chosen was "electricity, low voltage {AR} electricity production, photovoltaic, 570kWp open ground installation, multi-Si | Cut-off, U" which is interchanged in the MCr LCI for the electricity used in brine pumping, distillate cooling and brine heating. The Argentinian solar PV process was also interchanged with the electricity required in the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production LCI. The results of this sensitivity analysis will be presented in Section 4 'Results'.

### 3.6.3 Land Use & Land Use Intensity (LUI)

### 3.6.3.1 Brine Inspissation

To calculate the land use and LUI of brine inspissation and Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> processing, data was collected from the technical report recently released by SQM (2022). The report indicates sector 'MOP' is used exclusively for potash and lithium brine production and is adapted from SQM's report in Figure 3-7 below.



Figure 3-7: SQM land usage report for lithium brine production and potash (adapted from SQM, 2022).

According to SQM, the MOP sector encompasses 254 km<sup>2</sup> however, to determine the land use specifically associated with lithium production, an assumption was made that mass allocation could be used and the land area could be divided according to the share of projected product output reported in year 2027. According to Figure 3-8 adapted from the technical report, it is expected that there are 220 kilotons of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> produced per year and 1,224 kilotons of potassium chloride produced per year in 2027.

		2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030
Lithium Carbonate	ktpy	95	130	150	220	220	220	220	220	200
Lithium Hydroxide	ktpy	21	25	30	30	30	30	30	30	30
Potassium Chloride	ktpy	1,548	1,483	1,406	1,380	1,305	1,224	1,139	1,050	960

Figure 3-8: SQN	1 production	forecasts	(adapted	from	SQM,	2022)
-----------------	--------------	-----------	----------	------	------	-------

In total, 1444 tons of product will be produced, with 15.2% of it being  $Li_2CO_3$  and 84.8% being potash. To calculate the LUI the following formula was used:

$$LUI = \frac{Lithium Mining Area (km^2)}{Annual Production (tons)}$$

Therefore, 15.2% of 254 km<sup>2</sup> is equal to 40 km<sup>2</sup> which is divided by 220 tons of  $Li_2CO_3$  which equals .18 km<sup>2</sup> per ton of  $Li_2CO_3$ . If no allocation method was used, 254 km<sup>2</sup> divided by 220 tons of  $Li_2CO_3$  would equal 1.15 km<sup>2</sup> per ton of  $Li_2CO_3$ . The processing facility itself is roughly 2 km<sup>2</sup> (personal communication) and was therefore not considered in the calculation because the difference is negligible.

### 3.6.3.2 MCr

The primary contribution to land area usage for MCr relates to the scenario in the sensitivity analysis in which 100% of electricity use is from solar PV. The land area used for the MCr facility is considered to be negligible compared to the evaporation ponds because the concentration occurs within the membrane modules and approximately 40,000 will likely not take more than 1 km<sup>2</sup>. To determine the land area associated with the amount of electricity required per year at the MCr facility, recent data from Bolinger and Bolinger (2022) was used. The authors provide the most up-to-date empirical study of land requirements for utility-scale PV based on 90% of all utility-scale PV plants built in the United States through 2019. While the data is not exactly representative of the solar PV potential of SdA, it provides a conservative estimate of the land area requirements for the MCr facility.

Based on findings from Bolinger and Bolinger (2022), the energy density for fixed-tilt utility scale PV plants is 447 MWh/year/acre. This is equivalent to 0.11175 TWh/year/km<sup>2</sup> based on the calculation that 1 acre is equal to .004 km<sup>2</sup>. Dividing the yearly electricity consumption required at the MCr plant, which is 5.42 TWh, the required land area needed is 48.5 km<sup>2</sup>. Using the previous LUI formula, and the mass allocation approach the LUI can be determined for Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production. The required land area for utility-scale solar PV is 48.5 km<sup>2</sup>, the annual Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> equivalent output of the MCr facility is 100 kilotons and the potash production is 76 kilotons. Therefore, 56% of the product mass output is Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and 44% is potash. Using the previous formula and the mass allocation approach, 56% of 48.5 km<sup>2</sup> is equal to 27.16 km<sup>2</sup> which results in a LUI of .0002 km<sup>2</sup> per ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. The results of the required land area and land use intensity of MCr and brine inspissation are provided in Table 3-18 below.

Technology	Total Land Area (km²)	Lithium Land Area (km²)	Li₂CO₃ Output (tons)	LUI (km2/ton Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> )	Production Intensity (tons Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> /km <sup>2</sup> )
Brine Inspissation	254	40	220,000	.0001	10,000
MCr	48.5	27.16	100,000	.0002	5000

The results show that the production intensity of brine inspissation is twice as much as MCr which is likely due to the fact that based on the operational data of the MCr plant, it only produces 6% the amount of potash that the MOP sector produces during brine inspissation and therefore the mass allocation approach allocates more land to potash production making the land required for lithium production seem much less. Obtaining higher quality data about the exact land required for solely lithium production would make the results more robust.

# 4 Results

### 4.1 Environmental Impacts of Brine Inspissation

### 4.1.1 Narrative Review

Lithium brine extraction and associated freshwater use in arid regions such as the SdA has been scrutinized by diverse stakeholders seeking to understand the environmental impacts of extracting lithium for the lithium-ion battery supply chain (Gajardo and Redón, 2019; Kalazich et al., 2019; Marazuela et al., 2019; Kaunda 2020; Heredia et al., 2020; Gutiérrez et al., 2022; Moran et al., 2022). Determining the specific environmental impacts of lithium brine extraction has been markedly difficult due to the paucity of studies exploring and conceptualizing the complex hydrogeological, geochemical, and biophysical systems that comprise the SdA (Flexer et al., 2018; Moran et al., 2022). Moreover, this topic is particularly sensitive due to the livelihoods of different stakeholders that have been adversely affected in the region (Heredia et al., 2020; Lorca et al., 2022). However, while the social impacts of lithium extraction are of equally vital importance, the aim of this narrative literature review is to focus solely on the environmental impacts of lithium extraction in the SdA. In doing so, different foreseen and measured environmental impacts may be properly attributed to their origin and therefore avoid the mischaracterization of environmental impacts and their respective causes.

Recent studies have attributed environmental degradation to the operation and expansion of lithium extraction activities. Liu et al. (2019) attributed degrading vegetation cover, hotter local climate and increasing dry conditions to lithium extraction operations in the SdA. Liu et al. (2019) also argue that climatic variabilities such as rare precipitation events may contribute considerably less than the impact-intensive anthropogenic stressors such as lithium extraction. However, Moran et al. (2022) point out that the remote sensing methodology used by Lui et al. (2019) is not justified in their article and improperly applies the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) by not applying specific thresholds for vegetation identification and differentiation. Furthermore, the Liu et al. (2019) study includes the built evaporation ponds in their NDVI assessment which biases the NDVI towards negative numbers because water bodies result in negative values and therefore overestimates the land cover change due to lithium extraction. Moreover, Moran et al. (2022) argues that the conclusion put forth by Lui et al. (2019) is not grounded in the SdA basin's hydrological regime and is inconsistent with observations made by Moran et al. (2022) who constructed the most up-to-date hydrological assessment using geochemical tracer data.

Similarly, Liu and Agusdinata (2020) argue that brine extraction in the SdA in the past decades has led to a direct decline in terrestrial water storage in the SdA basin however, as Moran et al. (2022) point out, the methods used by Lui and Agusdinata (2020) are flawed because the methodology they used to process GRACE Total Water Storage (TWS) data was not explained and therefore not reproducible. Furthermore, the data which Liu and Agusdinata (2020) used encompasses a domain dozens of kilometers larger than the SdA basin and errantly assume that the trends observed over the much larger domain reflect changes in water storage in the SdA basin (Moran et al., 2022). Lastly, the analysis of water availability by Montecino et al. (2016) and Moran et al. (2022) show a strong increase in total water storage anomaly (TWSA) over the same time period. Therefore, the confidence in conclusions reached by Lui et al. (2019) which attribute lithium extraction as the cause of degrading vegetation cover, hotter local climate and increasing dry conditions in the SdA is not very strong. Similarly, there is not strong confidence in results of Lui and Agusdinata (2020) which attribute a decline in terrestrial water storage to lithium extraction in the SdA.

One important implication of these findings is due to the fact that according to Google Scholar, at the time of this writing, Lui et al. (2019) has been cited 93 times and Lui and Agusdinata (2020) has been cited 61 times which illustrates the point that while those authors may have important contributions, a careful consideration is needed when attributing water availability and scarcity in the SdA to lithium extraction. While it is entirely appropriate to be prudent and closely examine the developments of lithium extraction in the SdA to limit or mitigate environmental impacts, it is also recommendable to avoid propagating misinformation regarding the water-lithium nexus in the SdA.

Moran et al. (2022) provide a more recent and nuanced understanding of water sustainability as it relates to lithium extraction in the SdA. The entire hydrogeological assessment they conducted will not be explained but a few important conclusions provide value to the discussion. First, most of the water use permits granted by the Chilean government are allocated to copper mining and agriculture, which claim approximately 47% and 37% of total water rights, respectively, while lithium and potash mining companies are allocated 10% and 'other' uses comprise 7%, and domestic use totaling 2% of total allocations for water (Moran et al., 2022). Importantly, publicly available water extraction amounts based on government permitting do not necessarily equal actual extraction in the basin because water use has been historically monitored for industrial users but not for private, non-industrial users such as agriculture (AMPHOS21, 2018; Moran et al., 2022). Therefore, it is not entirely known the extent to which agricultural users draw water. Figure 4-1 provides a map of the freshwater allocation among different users in the SdA basin.



Figure 4-1: Map of freshwater extraction locations in SdA (adapted from Moran et al., 2022).

Using tritium, stable oxygen and hydrogen isotopes to create geochemical tracer data paired with remote sensing data and terrestrial hydroclimate data, Moran et al. (2022) distinguished sources of water within the SdA based on their residence time, physical characteristics and connectivity to modern climate and found that surface water extent (SWE), vegetation and total terrestrial water storage have increased substantially since 2015 due to short-term climate variations from drought and extreme rainfall events. Moreover, although it may seem reasonable to attribute decline in surface waters, wetland vegetation and groundwater levels in the SdA to lithium brine extraction, Moran et al. (2022) also show that the fresh groundwater storage declines, whereas the largest groundwater storage declines have occurred in the aquifers where freshwater is extracted for copper mining, agricultural and domestic uses. Importantly, Moran et al. (2022) highlight the importance of contextualizing water extraction in terms of rate, location and water source in addition to climatic conditions to properly assess the causes of environmental impacts in the SdA. Furthermore, as global climate change continues to accelerate, assessing environmental impacts within the SdA in the context of these changes becomes even more important (Moran et al., 2022).

Research by Guzmán et al., (2021) also found that lithium brine extraction had a minor impact on the availability of water in the SdA basin. They argue that an increase in water recharge within the SdA is occurring due to an 'exohydric' mechanism whereby large volumes of water contained in extracted lithium brines are evaporated from the lithium production ponds and return as freshwater in the form of precipitation within the SdA basin. This finding may be a potential positive consequence of lithium extraction however further investigation is required (Guzmán et al., 2021). Interestingly, this finding begs the question of whether the extreme rainfall events witnessed in the SdA basin in the past several years (Moran et al., 2022) could be linked to the large volumes of water being evaporated during lithium extraction. The findings by Guzmán et al., (2021) suggest that lithium extraction may have contributed to increased freshwater availability in the SdA basin through the exohydric mechanism previously discussed.

Environmental concerns have also been raised regarding the impact lithium extraction may have on lagoon systems located in the marginal zone within the SdA, an area between the alluvial fans and the salt flat nucleus. Garcés and Álvarez (2020) suggest that operations could affect the lagoon ecosystems and consequently reduce flora and fauna (Gajardo and Redón, 2019). However, a recent study conducted by Guzmán et al. (2022) found that the lagoon systems have not significantly changed from 1986 to 2018 despite increasing lithium production, even during years of large brine extraction. Moreover, the findings reinforce the notion that lithium extraction had minimal or no impact on the surface area of the lagoon systems and that the lagoons exhibit the ability to adapt to changing environmental conditions (Tejeda et al., 2003; Marazuela et al., 2020). However, it is not the case that propagating current brine extraction levels or increasing them would not have an effect on the lagoons and in addition, potential impacts on the lagoon systems may take a long time to be noticed (De la Fuente et al., 2021).

However, Gutiérrez et al. (2022) found that flamingo populations within the lagoon systems in SdA fluctuated significantly over a 30-year time span from 1985-1988 and 1997-2019. The main contributing factors influencing flamingo abundance were predicted by precipitation, minimum temperature, potential evapotranspiration and surface water levels via their effects on food availability indicating that water and food availability are key drivers of flamingo abundance (Gutiérrez et al., 2022). Importantly, the authors mention the extreme variability of the regions climate with annual precipitation varying three-fold to five-fold and rates of run-off differed by 150-fold during the study period.

While Gutiérrez et al. (2022) acknowledge the role of climate change related declines in surface water, they conclude that the decrease in flamingo abundance – a function of water and food availability – is due to lithium extraction. However, given the findings by Moran et al. (2022), which posit that recent extreme climate variability has affected surface water bodies and soil moisture in the basin, coupled with the fact that lagoon system surface area has not changed, a careful degree of skepticism is warranted when evaluating the claim that flamingo population decline is attributable to lithium extraction (Gutiérrez et al., 2022) because climatic variability (Moran et al., 2022) may confound that conclusion.

A study by Marazuela et al. (2019) found that lithium extraction in the SdA salt flat nucleus had decreased the phreatic evaporation rate based on a 'damping capacity' of the salt flats. When a certain volume of brine is extracted from the salt flat nucleus, a drawdown in the water table occurs however, the phreatic evaporation rate subsequently reduces due to an increase in the unsaturated zone between the surface of the salt flat and the reduced water table. So, although the brine extraction may reduce the water table, the water loss associated with phreatic evaporation is also reduced, thereby partially counteracting the effects of brine pumping (Marazuela et al., 2019). From an ecological perspective, the damping effect may affect the mixing zone of brine and freshwater within the marginal zone which could affect the wetland and lake ecosystems, however more research is needed to assess that implication (Marazuela et al. 2019). Building off of their previous work, Marazuela et al. (2020) suggest that to take better advantage of the damping capacity of the salt flat which counteracts the drawdown caused by lithium extraction, optimizing the location of brine pumping locations should be distributed within the largest possible area in the salt flat. In effect, the damping capacity is optimized to decrease the phreatic evaporation rate across the largest possible area and therefore offset the impacts of brine pumping on the water table and water balance (Marazuela et al., 2020). Another point of contention raised in the debate regarding the environmental impacts of lithium extraction is the definition of water as dictated by current Chilean law. Due to the fact that brine is unfit for human consumption and impossible to use for agriculture (Flexer et al., 2018), the continuous extraction of brine has continued without adequate investigations exploring how it may be interacting with freshwater in the SdA basin (Kalazich et al., 2019). However, as Moran et al. (2022) points out, there is notable uncertainty between permitted water use and actual extraction rates (Babidge et al., 2019) and a considerable over allocation of water in the basin has occurred based on assumptions that overestimate water resource sustainability.

A final point is the issue of waste production and disposal during the lithium extraction process. Due to the high content of TDS in extracted brine, the evaporitic process requires the removal of different salts such as NA and K throughout the process. For example, a brine with a TDS 300 g L<sup>-1</sup>, a Li<sup>+</sup> content of 700 ppm and a recovery rate of 70% means that creating 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> will produce 115,041 kg of waste including Na, Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> and CaSO<sub>4</sub> (Flexer et al., 2018). Fortunately, this waste is non-toxic however, currently it accumulates in large quantities at the outskirts of the operational area and will eventually require waste management and if 20 kilotons of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> are produced per year, after 10 years, it amounts to 2.3 E 10<sup>7</sup> tons of waste (Flexer et al., 2018). Moreover, when accounting for volumetric density of the salt mixtures, that mass will translate into a volume of 1.15 E 10<sup>7</sup> m<sup>3</sup> of waste which at a height of 1 meter, will occupy a land area of 11.5 km<sup>2</sup> (Flexer et al., 2018). Contextualizing these numbers according to SQM's technical report detailing their expected Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production (SQM, 2022), 220 kilotons will be produced every year until 2030, which is approximately 11 times the amount of waste discussed previously which makes the process of waste management more difficult and energy intensive and has its own set of implications for environmental impacts which should be further researched.

### 1.1 Recommendations

Based on the literature review, some recommendations are made for further consideration to limit any potential environmental impacts associated with lithium extraction in the SdA via brine inspissation. Probably the most important is to enhance and build on the hydrological assessment conducted by Moran et al. (2022) by further incorporating geochemical tracer data into physical hydrological models to better understand and monitor the water budget within the SdA. Floyd (2020) also proposes that more monitoring wells should be constructed within the alluvial fans where freshwater is pumped from. The addition of more monitoring wells throughout the basin including the salt nucleus and the regions around it will help provide more data points for an improved and robust hydrogeological model. Efforts should also be channeled towards scientific research that evaluates how climate change impacts will affect the basin in the future. Additionally, more scientific research is needed to monitor and evaluate the ecosystems and biodiversity within the SdA. To further bolster the monitoring of the basin, Floyd (2020) proposes the development of a river basin management plan (RBMP) which would expand the network of stakeholders involved in monitoring and maintaining the SdA basin. Additionally, the Biotic Environmental Monitoring Program (PSAB) which is the environmental monitoring program of SQM might benefit from independent evaluation of findings from researchers who are experts in relevant fields. The final recommendation is that to avoid environmental impacts associated with lithium extraction, new methods should be commercially developed which require less intensive land use, freshwater and brine extraction which is the subject of the following section.

#### Improved Lithium Extraction Criteria 4.2

To meet projected lithium demand, a large increase in production capacity is needed (Flexer et al., 2018; McKinsey, 2022; Khalil et al., 2022). Since continental brine lithium resources and reserves are much larger than those in hard rock ores (Kesler et al., 2012; Vikström et al., 2013; USGS, 2017), several efforts are underway to optimize the exploitation of continental brine reserves. There are several technologies being developed to recover lithium from brines which can be broadly categorized as passive processes and electrochemical processes (Baudino et al., 2022). While not all of the different technologies will be discussed, the schematic in Figure 4-2 indicates that substantial research is underway to improve the lithium extraction process from brines. The primary reasons that alternative technologies are being developed to extract lithium is because there are several intractable shortcomings with the brine inspissation process and evaporitic techniques in general.



# Figure 4-2: Diagram of emerging technologies for lithium extraction (adapted from Baudino et al., 2022).

# 4.2.1 Water Use

First, the most obvious problem is that brine inspissation relies on an evaporation process that usually takes almost 24 months to complete (Flexer et al., 2018), and not much can be done to accelerate the evaporation process because it is highly contingent upon the climate of the region where the evaporation ponds are located. In the case of the SdA and other salt flats, the aridity of the environment makes it a feasible process but outside of these climates it is unfeasible. In addition, the brine composition is highly variable between different salars even within the Lithium Triangle but also globally, which further complicate the feasibility of the evaporation process (Kesler et al., 2012; Flexer et al., 2018). However, the main advantage of the evaporation process is that it relies on solar irradiation and is therefore not as energy intensive as lithium extraction from ores occurring in pegmatite formations such as spodumene, petalite and lepidolite (Vikström et al., 2013). Importantly, the most salient problem with the evaporative process is that up 95% of water contained in the extracted brine is lost during evaporation (Heubl, 2019). As previously mentioned in the environmental impact literature review, identifying sustainable withdrawals of freshwater and brine are still an unresolved issue and therefore prioritizing the recovery of water is arguably the most important criteria for an improved lithium extraction process (Flexer et al., 2018; Heredia et al., 2020; Bustos-Gallardo et al., 2021; Jerez, 2021; Moran et al., 2022; AltaLey, 2022; Schomberg et al., 2022).

### 4.2.2 Energy Consumption

Another key indicator of an improved lithium extraction process which doesn't rely on the evaporation process is the energy consumption required to recover lithium. Common to all lithium extraction technologies, is the requirement of energy for brine pumping however, the specific energy requirements of different technologies differ. Studies of emerging technologies for producing lithium carbonate at various TRL's have been conducted but their energy requirement profiles are often only reflective of lab-scale efficiencies and do not reflect the actual consumption at commercial scale (Li et al., 2020; Maria et al., 2022, Torres et al., 2020). Electrochemical processes for example, all require the presence of an external voltage (Baudino et al., 2022). Similarly, some passive processes which require membranes, such as nanofiltration, require hydraulic pressure which is generated with external energy sources. The concern is that technologies which are rated to be more versatile and increase water recovery might have a substantially larger GWP footprint. This could pertain to the energy needed throughout the process or the energy needed to create various materials used in the process. Therefore, the second key criterion for an improved lithium extraction process is the minimization of energy consumption and associated global warming potential (AltaLey, 2022).

### 4.2.3 Chemical Usage

A third criterion for improved lithium extraction technologies is to avoid or limit the incorporation of chemicals that affect the sustainability of the process (AltaLey, 2022). There are several implications regarding the involvement of chemical intensive technologies for lithium extraction. First, technologies which require the use of chemicals such as organic solvents, acids, bases, eluents, or ionic liquids will require enormous quantities transported to the salt flat operations (Flexer et al., 2018). More importantly, the addition of chemicals introduces their own set of environmental implications related to proper handling, spills and emissions to the environment. Moreover, with the addition of chemicals to extract lithium, the spent brines and left-over chemical compounds pose their own set of challenges for waste management. Importantly, according to Flexer et al. (2018), an ongoing unpublished discussion is occurring among scientists and industry stakeholders that propose to re-inject spent brines into the salt flat nucleus. This approach could be overwhelmingly problematic without serious consideration and studies examining the anticipated effects and would likely further complicate the already elusive understanding of the hydrological regime in the SdA. Many of the technologies that include the addition of chemicals to recover lithium will likely produce a treated brine that will be left over with traces of chemicals that are exogenous to the native brine such as aluminum, titanium (Chitrakar et al., 2014), manganese (Song et al., 2017), iron derivatives (Pasta et al., 2012), phosphates, silver (Pasta et al., 2012), organic solvents (Song et al., 2017) or ionic liquids (Shi et al., 2016; Flexer et al., 2018). Re-injecting spent brine containing trace elements would likely affect any ecosystem within the SdA and therefore should be avoided until the implications of doing so are further studied. Even if spent brine does not containing any trace elements foreign to the native brine, it is likely that a diluted brine re-injected back into the salt flat could dilute the brine deposit (Houston et al., 2011).

### 4.2.4 Resource Efficiency & Circularity

A fourth criterion for an improvement in lithium extraction technology is for the possibility to recover as much resources as possible from the brine and thereby improve circularity and resource efficiency. Water recovery could provide a supply of process water to the mining companies within the SdA and thereby avoid the additional withdrawal of freshwater (Flexer et al., 2018). In addition, water recovery from improved lithium technologies could also potentially provide water for domestic purposes or irrigation in

the nearby communities (Flexer et al., 2018) which have long been in conflict with mining companies over their lack of water (Lorca et al., 2022). Interestingly, with potentially enormous volumes of freshwater being recovered, there may be a potential for new agricultural production within the desert landscape due to the availability of freshwater for irrigation (Flexer et al., 2018). In addition to water, the solutes contained in the raw brines also contain other potentially valuable resources such as Na, K, Mg, B, and even Cs and Rb (Garret, 2004). Due to the current market value of salts that are precipitated out during the evaporative process and the difficulty in transporting such large amounts, they are left unused on the periphery of the salt flat operations. However, if those resources were able to be cascaded into another process, or sold on the market, the overall resource efficiency of the brine extraction might be improved. This already occurs during lithium extraction at SQM with recovery of KCl and K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (SQM, 2022). By improving the recovery rates of water and solutes within the brine and cascading them into subsequent processes or products, economic value is created while achieving the minimization of waste and raw material extraction.

# 4.2.5 Efficiency, Scalability & Land Use

A fifth criterion should evaluate whether the extraction technology is able to process brines much faster than the current evaporative process, due to the fact it takes almost 24 months to create 1 ton of concentrated brine. While there are several technologies being developed, improved technologies must be able to handle large amounts of brine in a relatively quick manner in order to scale commercially (Flexer et al., 2018). Ideally, they should also be applicable and scalable in diverse locations which may have differing brine compositions because the incumbent evaporative process is really only applicable and scalable within the SdA and a few other locations (Flexer et al., 2018). Lastly, the land required for extraction operations should also be minimized as much as possible to improve land use efficiency and avoid encroachment on natural habitats. Although Guzmán et al. (2022) did not find a change in surface area of lagoon systems within the SdA despite increasing land use for lithium extraction, it is appropriately cautionary to limit the amount of land that is required for operations, especially since production capacity will need to be substantially increased and land cover is increasingly being changed for anthropogenic activities (Winkler et al., 2021).

### 4.2.6 Economic Feasibility

Lastly, the economic feasibility of a new technology is undeniably critical however, it is unlikely that many technologies will be able to achieve the economic effectiveness of the evaporative process. However, identifying technologies which may be more expensive but have the ability to use less land, recover more water, minimize chemical usage, cascade by-products into other processes and be readily applied to most regions may compensate for the increased cost. However, the scope of this research will not include an economic assessment of MCr for lithium extraction but is recommended for future research.

In conclusion, the criteria for an improved lithium extraction technique can be evaluated in terms of water use and recovery, energy usage, chemical usage, efficiency and circularity, scalability, land usage and economic feasibility.

# 4.3 Ex-Ante Life Cycle Assessment

This section presents the results of the LCA based on the chosen impact categories at a midpoint indicator level for 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  production. Section 4.4 discusses the results between  $Li_2CO_3$  production via MCr which is compared to the brine inspissation route. Section 4.5 discusses the results between L  $Li_2CO_3$  production via MCr using 100% solar PV which is compared to the brine inspissation route. Section 4.5 provides a brief comparison of the brine concentration technologies. Section 4.6 discusses PVDF impacts.

# 4.3.1 Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> via MCr vs. Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> via Brine Inspissation

Figure 4-3 displays the LCA results of comparing 1 ton Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production.

# 4.3.1.1 Global Warming Potential & Cumulative Energy Demand

Producing 1 ton of  $Li_2CO_3$  via MCr has a GWP of 15,094 kg  $CO_2$  eq. per FU which is more than 4.5 times higher than producing it via brine inspissation which has a GWP of 3292 kg  $CO_2$  per FU. This large increase is due to the fact that MCr uses much more electricity for brine production and the remainder of the GWP is due to the use of soda ash during the  $Li_2CO_3$  processing. This is difference is also reflected in the total CED of the MCr route which is 344.3 GJ per FU which is 7 times higher than the brine inspissation route for  $Li_2CO_3$ .



In the brine inspissation route for  $Li_2CO_3$ , the GWP contributions differ considerably which is shown represented in a pie chart in Figure 4-4 below. Since the GWP in the brine inspissation route is much lower, the relative contribution of other chemicals especially soda ash is much higher.





### 4.3.1.2 Water Use

Another important result is the magnitude of difference in water usage between the two production routes which was expected due to the aforementioned water recovery potential of MCr. Compared to the brine inspissation route which uses nearly 60,000 m<sup>3</sup> of water per 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, the MCr route uses about 3,700 m<sup>3</sup> of water which is nearly a 94% decrease in water consumption. However, this result is likely based on the modeling decision to allocate the recovered water as a water emission to water. This could change significantly if it was modeled as a co-product or re-injected into the salt flats.

### 4.3.1.3 Acidification Potential

In terms of acidification potential, the MCr route is approximately 2.7 times higher than the brine inspissation route. This is likely due to the PVDF membrane modules which require several chemicals for their manufacturing whereas the brine inspissation route does not use membranes and relies on solar energy for most of the brine production.

### 4.3.1.4 Resource Use (Metals & Minerals)

In terms of metal and mineral resource use, the brine inspissation route is 5 time higher which could be due to the fact that water is not recovered from the process at all. However, a more in-depth analysis in future research could determine theories why it is much larger than the MCr route. One potential reason is because the process modeling carried out at AMTC did not have calcium or sulfate in their model inputs which also meant that it was not included in the LCI for MCr brine production whereas for the brine inspissation process, calcium and sulfate are accounted for in the dataset by Kelly et al. (2021).

# 4.3.2 Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> via MCr with 100% solar PV vs. Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> via Brine Inspissation

This section provides the results of the sensitivity analysis which evaluates the MCr route for  $Li_2CO_3$  production based on 100% solar PV for electricity input which is compared with the brine inspissation  $Li_2CO_3$  production route in Figure 4-5.



Figure 4-5: LCA results comparing Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production via MCr using 100% solar PV and brine inspissation.

### 4.3.2.1 Global Warming Potential & Cumulative Energy Demand

In terms of GWP, using 100% solar PV electricity for the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production results in approximately 8,325 kg CO<sub>2</sub> eq. per FU which is 2.5 times higher than the brine inspissation route per FU. Fortunately, it is an improvement compared to the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route that used the electricity mix modeled for 2030 because the 100% PV MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route amounts to roughly half of the GWP potential that was observed previously. This is likely due to the fact that the MCr process is powered entirely by solar PV electricity which reduces the GWP of the process. The other improvement of the 100% PV MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route is that there is 15% less CED per FU. However, the 100% PV MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route still has a CED that is nearly 6 times higher than the brine inspissation- Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production route.

# 4.3.2.2 Water Use

A trade-off observed in the results is the increased water use per FU for the 100% PV MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> compared to the original MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route which is 4,619 m<sup>3</sup> of water per FU compared to 3,682 m<sup>3</sup>. Fortunately, it is still a 93% decrease in water usage compared to the brine inspissation-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route. One potential reason why the water usage is higher because substantial amounts of water are needed to produce solar panels and their constituent components.

# 4.3.2.3 Acidification Potential

The acidification potential observed between the two technologies is predictably similar based on the fact that the only main difference was the change in electricity mix which had previously already been composed of 70% renewable sources. However, determining why a larger change was not observed could potentially be determined in future research.

# 4.3.2.4 Resource Use (Metals & Minerals)

It would be reasonable to expect that more metals and minerals would be needed if the MCr-Li2co3 process relies on 100% PV because the solar panels and battery systems accompanied with them require ECEs and other elements. The result is confounding because it is the same as the previous comparison and therefore warrants deeper analysis in future research.

# 4.3.3 Brine Concentration Technology Comparison

This section aims to provide a brief overview of the main contributing factors to the environmental impacts observed in the two previous sections. To do so, all three brine concentrations are compared below in Figure 4-6 based on the impact categories previously discussed.



Figure 4-6: LCA Results of 1 ton brine production via three production routes.

Based on Figure 4-6, several observations can be made about the different trade-offs in terms of impact categories. However, it should be noted that the brine inspissation brine is between 1 and 2 wt%. more concentrated and for that reason it was not chosen as the FU for the LCA study but this section hopes to provide some information about the different contributions to the impact category scores. A reminder that 4.697 tons of concentrated brine are used for 1 ton  $Li_2CO_3$  in the MCr route and 4 tons of concentrated brine are used for 1 ton  $Li_2CO_3$  in the brine inspissation route.

### 4.3.3.1 Global Warming Potential & Cumulative Energy Demand

In the MCr route, the GWP is primarily due to the use of PVDF and brine heating. Figure 4-7 shows the percentage contribution of each process to the total GWP.



However, in the 100% PV scenario, the GWP of the MCr brine production process has a slightly different percentage contribution which can be seen in Figure 4-8 below. This is due to the fact that the background electricity process for distillate cooling, brine heating and brine pumping rely on solar PV instead of the electricity mix for 2030.



The GWP for the brine inspissation process is 96% less than the MCr process and 90% less than the MCr-PV process because it does not require nearly as much energy. It is almost split evenly between electricity use and diesel use. The CED of producing 1 ton of lithium brine via brine inspissation is 2.1 GJ which is 96% less than the CED of MCr which is 64.6 GJ per 1 ton of lithium brine. The CED does not decrease significantly in the MCr-PV scenario but the GWP does due to the use of Solar PV.

# 4.3.3.2 Water Use

The water use results for producing 1 ton of concentrated brine are similar to the LCA results of 1 ton  $Li_2CO_3$  production. The most water intensive route is brine inspissation which uses 14,540 m<sup>3</sup> per ton of brine produced which is approximately 25 times more than the amount needed for MCr-PV brine which is 590.3 m<sup>3</sup> per ton of brine. Compared to MCr using the electricity mix, which uses 392.7 m<sup>3</sup> per ton of brine, brine inspissation requires 37 times more water. Asides from the water loss from the raw brine extraction during inspissation, the other contributor to water usage is diesel. Figure 4-9 below shows the percentage contribution of water usage for producing 1 ton of brine via MCr.



Figure 4-10 below shows the percentage contribution of water usage for producing 1 ton of brine via MCr-PV.


#### 4.3.3.3 Acidification Potential

The acidification potential for both MCr technologies is the same based on PVDF use and brine heating which requires electricity. However, the acidification potential for brine inspissation is due to the use of diesel in their process.

#### 4.3.3.4 Resource Use (Metals & Minerals)

The resource use is decidedly low per 1 ton of brine produced by MCr and MCr-PV and is slightly higher in the brine inspissation process. As previously theorized and based on the available data in this research, the resource use must be higher in brine inspissation because calcium and sulfate are included in the LCI.

### 5 Discussion

This section discusses the limitations of the research, implications related to the results of the research and the broader problem definition discussed in the beginning of the research. Recommendations for future and improved research are also given.

### 5.1 Limitations

### 5.1.1 Data Availability & Reliability

The most prominent limitation of this study is the lack of data availability and reliability. This is due to a few different reasons. First, the nature of ex-ante LCAs are characterized by a high degree of data uncertainty based on the fact that many of the processes have not been operational at a commercial or pilot level and therefore the data for LCIs are based on modeling, scaling or expert judgement. Moreover, usually a lab study like the one this research is based off of would first be further validated at pilot stage levels and move incrementally further towards a TRL 9 and MRL 10. In addition, not all processes and inputs are fully accounted for and gross assumptions are made which infer that the process will operate without any catastrophic failures or setbacks. In the case of this research, the main foreseeable setback is the data used in this research does not account for challenges associated with membrane fouling which is the most prominent reason membrane technologies are not as widely adopted yet. Another limitation pertains to the settling/separation stage where the crystal slurries are collected, however this was not modeled because the process engineering team had not yet determined how that process should be modeled or what it would consist of. In addition, there was not an indication what condition the potassium chloride produced would be in.

Yet another limitation was the fact that freshwater was modeled as waste to water when in fact, it could theoretically be modeled as a co-product, but AMTC was not entirely sure what the fate of the freshwater would be. This sentiment is also echoed in the academic community because no one is sure whether spent brines or water should be re-injected back into the salt flats. An additional limitation of the representativeness of the study is that potassium chloride was not credited to the system because a conservative approach was taken to allocate all environmental burdens to the lithium production. Another limitation of the study pertains to the lack of plant construction data and all of the infrastructure that would be required including pumps, pipes, valves, settlers, lighting, buildings, electronics, membrane cleaning etc. for the product system to be fully represented. In addition, the transportation was not accounted for MCr- Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production because an assumption was made that the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> facility would be constructed next to the MCr facility in the SdA. In actuality, the LCI dataset for MCr brine production mainly focuses on foreground processes which is similar to Kelly et al. (2021)'s lithium brine and lithium carbonate processing datasets.

Another limitation of the study relates to how crystal output was modeled as salts in final emission flows. This was done because the constituent salt outputs did not exist in the ecoinvent database. Another major limitation of the study relates to the electricity mix that was modeled, the solar PV electricity process that was used and the modeling of the PVDF. The electricity mix was modeled with a coarse level of detail because the 70% renewable energy target set forth by the Chilean government cannot be modeled using datasets for Chile. Furthermore, many of the processes in Ecoinvent are already based on quite old, so to model electricity 5 years into the future, there is a lack of data representativeness. In addition, there are very few datasets for large scale solar PV electricity production besides concentrated solar tower production. Moreover, of the existing datasets for solar PV, most of them are for building integrated or

residential use and very few options are available for Chile. That is why Argentina was chosen for the ground-mounted 570 kWp installation.

Alongside the electricity modeling and solar PV, battery usage was also not accounted for which is imperative for any large-scale renewable energy facility such as the one that would need to be constructed for the MCr facility. An attempt was made to collect datasets from Raugei et al. (2020) to determine what the environmental impacts would be of a utility scale solar PV field coupled with battery storage would be, but they could not be retrieved and were not available in supplementary materials.

The choice of plastic polymer for the membrane module also likely affects the LCA results significantly. For this research, PVDF was used in the LCI based on the membrane module that was modeled in the scale-up as well as a personal communication with the membrane manufacturer. However, there are several types of plastic polymers that can be used in membranes, each with their own trade-offs.

#### 5.2 Literature Comparison

This section briefly compares the results of this LCA with other recent ex-ante LCA results for lithium extraction. Li et al. (2020) reports that to produce 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> via nanofiltration, 546. 51 tons of water were required. 546.51 tons of water per FU is much smaller than the brine inspissation route but the MCR-PV-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> process requires about 10 times the amount of water as reported by Li et al. (2020) for producing 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. However, the nanofiltration approach presented by the authors report that 180.83 L, 59.35 L and 11.89 L of water are recovered in various stages throughout the process of producing 1 kg Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Scaling these values to 1 ton Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> would equate to .25 m<sup>3</sup> recovered per 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. This value is 98% less than the water recovery potential that was reported in this research per ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, which was 23.2 m3, based on Table 3-9. In terms of energy usage, Li et al. (2020) reports that 8674 kWh are required per 1 ton of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> production which is very close to the electricity required via MCr. Since lithium rich brines exist in arid and water-scarce areas and the previous discussion, it seems that MCr may be more beneficial than nanofiltration due to the fact that MCr can recover much more freshwater per FU while still using the same amount of electricity.

The other ex-ante LCA for lithium technologies was published by Maria et al. (2022) however in this study they use a novel process to create 0.3 kg of lithium hydroxide and therefore this study will not be compared to theirs.

#### 5.3 Recommendations

The recommendations of improving environmental impacts of brine inspissation and the lithium-water nexus in the SdA have already been discussed in Section 4.1. The recommendations for an improved lithium extraction process are also derived in Section 4.2 based on the improvement criteria. The remainder of recommendations in this research pertain to suggestions for improving future iterations of the LCA which are mainly based off of the limitations previously discussed. The main recommendation is to update the process model to include membrane fouling which will provide more representative data for the LCI. Additionally, it should also be determined what type of equipment will be used so that the LCI can also accurately reflect the entirety of the system process. Lastly, the electricity mix should be better modeled and the solar PV data could be dramatically improved if datasets are obtained from Raugei et al. (2020), or newly created. A final recommendation would be to conduct a techno-economic analysis alongside the next iteration of LCA for MCr as well as an energy-payback time study for the required solar PV field.

## 6 Conclusion

Based on the research conducted, the current understanding of the potential environmental implications of using MCr for lithium extraction coupled with a processing facility, is that the GWP is 4.5 times higher than brine inspissation per FU but when MCr and the lithium carbonate facility are using 100% solar PV, the GWP is only 2.5 times higher. However, the trade-off is that MCr can recover water and therefore there is an approximate 93% reduction in water usage per FU in the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route. In terms of CED, the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> route is approximately 7 times higher than the brine inspissation route however if the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> uses solar PV, the CED is reduced by 15%. The acidification potential of both of the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> routes is nearly 3 times larger than the brine inspissation route which is likely due to the use of the PVDF membranes. This could potentially be reduced if green chemistry is used to manufacture membrane modules for MCr but further research is needed. One confounding aspect of this research was the metal and mineral resource use results, which were approximately 5 times higher for the brine inspissation route. The only explanation for this is the inclusion of calcium and sulfate in the LCI dataset for brine inspissation whereas the MCr dataset did not include it because it was not modeled in the scale-up and further research should be targeted towards understanding the confounding result.

In terms of modeled production output, the results show – assuming a MRL 10 – that an MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> facility could produce the equivalent of 100 kilotons of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and 76 kilotons of KCl per year which amounts to a 75% lithium recovery efficiency. The Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and KCl output require the equivalent of 22 Mtons per year of raw brine however 64% of it is recovered as freshwater, amounting to 14.13 Mtons per year. The main benefit of this operation, which is also the main limitation of the brine inspissation process is the water recovery potential. Determining what should be done with the vast amount of freshwater that is recovered is a focus for further research however, it could be cascaded into the existing brine inspissation process which would thereby offset the freshwater withdrawal. Alternatively, it could potentially be used for irrigation in agricultural production in the area or provided as drinking water to local communities. Similarly, 4.14 Mtons of NaCl, 230 kilotons of KMgCl<sub>2</sub>6H<sub>2</sub>O and 740 kilotons of MgCl<sub>2</sub>6H<sub>2</sub>O are recovered which could also be potentially cascaded into other processes to increase circularity however more research is needed to identify their potential use cases.

In terms of land use, the MCr-Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> facility would require approximately 50 km<sup>2</sup> to include the MCr facility, processing facility and utility-scale solar field. However, this value should be taken with a degree of uncertainty and could likely increase or decrease by 10%. Due to the method used for LUI and production intensity, the LUI for MCr is greater than brine inspissation but has a smaller production intensity. However, different methods for estimating LUI of the SQM operations would sharpen the results.

In conclusion, based on the results of this research, MCr provides an alternative to the current brine inspissation process with the capability of providing an additional 100 kilotons per year of  $Li_2CO_3$  while achieving an exceptional water recovery rate compared to brine inspissation. However, the main limitation is the GWP associated with the process. Based on the reviewed criteria for improved lithium extraction techniques and current environmental impacts of brine inspissation, this result indicates that MCr is an emerging technology for lithium extraction that is worth further research due to its significant potential for water recovery.

## 7 References

- Agusdinata, D. B., Liu, W., Eakin, H., & Romero, H. (2018). Socio-environmental impacts of lithium mineral extraction: Towards a research agenda. Environmental Research Letters, 13(12), 123001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae9b1
- AlSawaftah, N., Abuwatfa, W., Darwish, N., & Husseini, G. (2021). A Comprehensive Review on Membrane Fouling: Mathematical Modelling, Prediction, Diagnosis, and Mitigation. Water, 13(9), 1327. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13091327
- Ambrose, H., & Kendall, A. (2020). Understanding the future of lithium: Part 1, resource model. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12949
- Arshad, F., Lin, J., Manurkar, N., Fan, E., Ahmad, A., Tariq, M.-N., Wu, F., Chen, R., & Li, L. (2022). Life Cycle Assessment of Lithium-ion Batteries: A Critical Review. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 180, 106164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106164
- Arvidsson, R., Tillman, A.-M., Sandén, B. A., Janssen, M., Nordelöf, A., Kushnir, D., & Molander, S. (2018).
  Environmental Assessment of Emerging Technologies: Recommendations for Prospective LCA.
  Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22(6), 1286–1294. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12690
- AWARE (Available WAter REmaining) Mission and Goals. (n.d.). WULCA. Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://wulca-waterlca.org/aware/
- Babidge, S. (2019). Sustaining ignorance: The uncertainties of groundwater and its extraction in the Salar de Atacama, northern Chile. Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 25(1), 83–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9655.12965
- Bagheri, M., & Mirbagheri, S. A. (2018). Critical review of fouling mitigation strategies in membrane bioreactors treating water and wastewater. Bioresource Technology, 258, 318–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.03.026
- Balis, E., Griffin, J. C., & Hiibel, S. R. (2022). Membrane Distillation-Crystallization for Inland Desalination Brine Treatment. Separation and Purification Technology, 120788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2022.120788
- Banat, F., Jumah, R., & Garaibeh, M. (2002). Exploitation of solar energy collected by solar stills for desalination by membrane distillation. Renewable Energy, 25(2), 293–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-1481(01)00058-1
- Baudino, L., Santos, C., Pirri, C. F., La Mantia, F., & Lamberti, A. (2022). Recent Advances in the Lithium Recovery from Water Resources: From Passive to Electrochemical Methods. Advanced Science, 2201380. https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202201380
- Bennett, A. (2005). Membranes in industry: Facilitating reuse of wastewater. Filtration & Separation, 42(8), 28–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-1882(05)70658-3
- Bolinger, M., & Bolinger, G. (2022). Land Requirements for Utility-Scale PV: An Empirical Update on Power and Energy Density. IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics, 12(2), 589–594. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3136805

Byrappa, K., & Ohachi, T. (Eds.). (2002). Crystal growth for modern technology. Noyes Publications.

- Cerda, A., Quilaqueo, M., Barros, L., Seriche, G., Gim-Krumm, M., Santoro, S., Avci, A. H., Romero, J., Curcio, E., & Estay, H. (2021). Recovering water from lithium-rich brines by a fractionation process based on membrane distillation-crystallization. Journal of Water Process Engineering, 41, 102063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2021.102063
- Chester, M. V., Sperling, J., Stokes, E., Allenby, B., Kockelman, K., Kennedy, C., Baker, L. A., Keirstead, J., & Hendrickson, C. T. (2014). Positioning infrastructure and technologies for low-carbon urbanization. Earth's Future, 2(10), 533–547. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014EF000253
- Chile—Energy. (n.d.). Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www.trade.gov/country-commercialguides/chile-energy
- Chitrakar, R., Kanoh, H., Miyai, Y., & Ooi, K. (2001). Recovery of Lithium from Seawater Using Manganese Oxide Adsorbent (H 1.6 Mn 1.6 O 4 ) Derived from Li 1.6 Mn 1.6 O 4. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 40(9), 2054–2058. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie000911h
- Choi, Y., Naidu, G., D. Nghiem, L., Lee, S., & Vigneswaran, S. (2019). Membrane distillation crystallization for brine mining and zero liquid discharge: Opportunities, challenges, and recent progress. Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology, 5(7), 1202–1221. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9EW00157C
- Collingridge, D. (1982). The social control of technology. Frances Pinter St. Martin's press.
- de la Fuente, A., Meruane, C., & Suárez, F. (2021). Long-term spatiotemporal variability in high Andean wetlands in northern Chile. Science of The Total Environment, 756, 143830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143830
- Di Profio, G., Curcio, E., Ferraro, S., Stabile, C., & Drioli, E. (2009). Effect of Supersaturation Control and Heterogeneous Nucleation on Porous Membrane Surfaces in the Crystallization of I-Glutamic Acid Polymorphs. Crystal Growth & Design, 9(5), 2179–2186. https://doi.org/10.1021/cg800838b
- Elginoz, N., Owusu-Agyeman, I., Finnveden, G., Hischier, R., Rydberg, T., & Cetecioglu, Z. (2022). Application and adaptation of a scale-up framework for life cycle assessment to resource recovery from waste systems. Journal of Cleaner Production, 355, 131720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.131720
- European Commission. Joint Research Centre. Institute for Environment and Sustainability. (2010). International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook :general guide for life cycle assessment: Detailed guidance. Publications Office. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2788/38479
- Ferrari, R. (2015). Writing narrative style literature reviews. Medical Writing, 24(4), 230–235. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047480615Z.00000000329
- Flexer, V., Baspineiro, C. F., & Galli, C. I. (2018). Lithium recovery from brines: A vital raw material for green energies with a potential environmental impact in its mining and processing. Science of The Total Environment, 639, 1188–1204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.223

Floyd, M. (n.d.). The path to groundwater sustainability for lithium mining: The Salar de Atacama, Chile. 57.

Frischknecht, R., & Heijungs, R. (1998). Einstein's Lessons for Energy Accounting in LCA. 7.

- Gajardo, G., & Redón, S. (2019). Andean hypersaline lakes in the Atacama Desert, northern Chile: Between lithium exploitation and unique biodiversity conservation. Conservation Science and Practice, 1(9), e94. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.94
- Garcés, I., & Alvarez, G. (2020). WATER MINING AND EXTRACTIVISM OF THE SALAR DE ATACAMA, CHILE. 189–199. https://doi.org/10.2495/EID200181
- Ghaffour, N., Soukane, S., Lee, J.-G., Kim, Y., & Alpatova, A. (2019). Membrane distillation hybrids for water production and energy efficiency enhancement: A critical review. Applied Energy, 254, 113698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113698
- Grosjean, C., Miranda, P. H., Perrin, M., & Poggi, P. (2012). Assessment of world lithium resources and consequences of their geographic distribution on the expected development of the electric vehicle industry. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16(3), 1735–1744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.11.023
- Guo, W., Ngo, H.-H., & Li, J. (2012). A mini-review on membrane fouling. Bioresource Technology, 122, 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.089
- Gutiérrez, J. S., Moore, J. N., Donnelly, J. P., Dorador, C., Navedo, J. G., & Senner, N. R. (n.d.). Climate change and lithium mining influence flamingo abundance in the Lithium Triangle. 11.
- Guzmán, J., Faúndez, P., Jara, J., & Retamal, C. (2021). ROLE OF LITHIUM MINING ON THE WATER STRESS OF THE SALAR DE ATACAMA BASIN [Preprint]. Engineering. https://doi.org/10.31223/X54S5G
- Habib, K., Hansdóttir, S. T., & Habib, H. (2020). Critical metals for electromobility: Global demand scenarios for passenger vehicles, 2015–2050. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 154, 104603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104603
- Handbook of Lithium and Natural Calcium Chloride—1st Edition. (n.d.). Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www-elsevier-com.proxy.library.uu.nl/books/handbook-of-lithium-and-naturalcalcium-chloride/garrett/978-0-12-276152-2
- Hauschild, M. Z., Rosenbaum, R. K., & Olsen, S. I. (Eds.). (2018). Life Cycle Assessment. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56475-3
- Heijungs, R., & Guineév, J. B. (2012). An Overview of the Life Cycle Assessment Method Past, Present, and Future. In Life Cycle Assessment Handbook (pp. 15–41). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118528372.ch2
- Heredia, F., Martinez, A. L., & Surraco Urtubey, V. (2020). The importance of lithium for achieving a lowcarbon future: Overview of the lithium extraction in the 'Lithium Triangle.' Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law, 38(3), 213–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646811.2020.1784565
- Hetherington, A. C., Borrion, A. L., Griffiths, O. G., & McManus, M. C. (2014). Use of LCA as a development tool within early research: Challenges and issues across different sectors. The

International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 19(1), 130–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0627-8

- Heubl, B. (2019). Lithium at any price? Engineering & Technology, 14(9), 34–37. https://doi.org/10.1049/et.2019.0903
- Houston, J., Butcher, A., Ehren, P., Evans, K., & Godfrey, L. (2011). The Evaluation of Brine Prospects and the Requirement for Modifications to Filing Standards. Economic Geology, 106(7), 1225–1239. https://doi.org/10.2113/econgeo.106.7.1225
- How lithium mining is fueling the EV revolution | McKinsey. (n.d.). Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/metals-and-mining/our-insights/lithium-mining-hownew-production-technologies-could-fuel-the-global-ev-revolution
- Hu, X., An, A. K. J., & Chopra, S. S. (2022). Life Cycle Assessment of the Polyvinylidene Fluoride Polymer with Applications in Various Emerging Technologies. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 10(18), 5708–5718. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.1c05350
- Huang, T.-Y., Pérez-Cardona, J. R., Zhao, F., Sutherland, J. W., & Paranthaman, M. P. (2021). Life Cycle Assessment and Techno-Economic Assessment of Lithium Recovery from Geothermal Brine. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 9(19), 6551–6560. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.0c08733
- Hurd, A. J., Kelley, R. L., Eggert, R. G., & Lee, M.-H. (2012). Energy-critical elements for sustainable development. MRS Bulletin, 37(4), 405–410. https://doi.org/10.1557/mrs.2012.54
- Jerez, B. (2021). Lithium extractivism and water injustices in the Salar de Atacama, Chile: The colonial shadow of green electromobility. Political Geography, 11.
- Jiang, S., Zhang, L., Li, F., Hua, H., Liu, X., Yuan, Z., & Wu, H. (2020). Environmental impacts of lithium production showing the importance of primary data of upstream process in life-cycle assessment. Journal of Environmental Management, 262, 110253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110253
- Jiang, X., Shao, Y., Sheng, L., Li, P., & He, G. (2021). Membrane Crystallization for Process Intensification and Control: A Review. Engineering, 7(1), 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eng.2020.06.024
- Jiang, X., Tuo, L., Lu, D., Hou, B., Chen, W., & He, G. (2017). Progress in membrane distillation crystallization: Process models, crystallization control and innovative applications. Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering, 11(4), 647–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11705-017-1649-8
- Kalazich, F., Yager, K., Prieto, M., & Babidge, S. (2019). "That's the problem with that lake; it changes sides": Mapping extraction and ecological exhaustion in the Atacama. Journal of Political Ecology, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.2458/v26i1.23169
- Kaunda, R. B. (2020). Potential environmental impacts of lithium mining. Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law, 38(3), 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646811.2020.1754596

- Kavanagh, L., Keohane, J., Garcia Cabellos, G., Lloyd, A., & Cleary, J. (2018). Global Lithium Sources— Industrial Use and Future in the Electric Vehicle Industry: A Review. Resources, 7(3), 57. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources7030057
- Kelly, J. C., Wang, M., Dai, Q., & Winjobi, O. (2021). Energy, greenhouse gas, and water life cycle analysis of lithium carbonate and lithium hydroxide monohydrate from brine and ore resources and their use in lithium ion battery cathodes and lithium ion batteries. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 174, 105762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105762
- Kelly-Fair, M., Gopal, S., Koch, M., Pancasakti Kusumaningrum, H., Helmi, M., Khairunnisa, D., &
  Kaufman, L. (2022). Analysis of Land Use and Land Cover Changes through the Lens of SDGs in
  Semarang, Indonesia. Sustainability, 14(13), Article 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14137592
- Kesler, S. E., Gruber, P. W., Medina, P. A., Keoleian, G. A., Everson, M. P., & Wallington, T. J. (2012).
  Global lithium resources: Relative importance of pegmatite, brine and other deposits. Ore
  Geology Reviews, 48, 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oregeorev.2012.05.006
- Khalil, A., Mohammed, S., Hashaikeh, R., & Hilal, N. (2022). Lithium recovery from brine: Recent developments and challenges. Desalination, 528, 115611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2022.115611
- Klöpffer, W. (Ed.). (2014). Background and Future Prospects in Life Cycle Assessment. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8697-3
- Lai, X., Chen, Q., Tang, X., Zhou, Y., Gao, F., Guo, Y., Bhagat, R., & Zheng, Y. (2022). Critical review of life cycle assessment of lithium-ion batteries for electric vehicles: A lifespan perspective. ETransportation, 12, 100169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etran.2022.100169
- Lawson, K. W., & Lloyd, D. R. (1996). Membrane distillation. II. Direct contact MD. Journal of Membrane Science, 120(1), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0376-7388(96)00141-X
- Lindahl, P., Robèrt, K.-H., Ny, H., & Broman, G. (2014). Strategic sustainability considerations in materials management. Journal of Cleaner Production, 64, 98–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.07.015
- Liu, W., & Agusdinata, D. B. (2020). Interdependencies of lithium mining and communities sustainability in Salar de Atacama, Chile. Journal of Cleaner Production, 260, 120838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120838
- Liu, W., & Agusdinata, D. B. (2021). Dynamics of local impacts in low-carbon transition: Agent-based modeling of lithium mining-community-aquifer interactions in Salar de Atacama, Chile. The Extractive Industries and Society, 8(3), 100927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2021.100927
- Liu, W., Agusdinata, D. B., & Myint, S. W. (2019). Spatiotemporal patterns of lithium mining and environmental degradation in the Atacama Salt Flat, Chile. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 80, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2019.04.016
- Lorca, M., Olivera Andrade, M., Escosteguy, M., Köppel, J., Scoville-Simonds, M., & Hufty, M. (2022). Mining indigenous territories: Consensus, tensions and ambivalences in the Salar de Atacama. The Extractive Industries and Society, 9, 101047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2022.101047

- Lu, K. J., & Chung, T. S. (2019). Membrane Distillation: Membranes, Hybrid Systems and Pilot Studies. CRC Press. https://books.google.nl/books?id=NHa7DwAAQBAJ
- Luo, L., Zhao, J., & Chung, T.-S. (2018). Integration of membrane distillation (MD) and solid hollow fiber cooling crystallization (SHFCC) systems for simultaneous production of water and salt crystals. Journal of Membrane Science, 564, 905–915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2018.08.001
- Manjong, N. B., Usai, L., Burheim, O. S., & Strømman, A. H. (2021). Life Cycle Modelling of Extraction and Processing of Battery Minerals—A Parametric Approach. Batteries, 7(3), 57. https://doi.org/10.3390/batteries7030057
- Maranghi, S., Parisi, M. L., Basosi, R., & Sinicropi, A. (2020). LCA as a Support Tool for the Evaluation of Industrial Scale-Up. In S. Maranghi & C. Brondi (Eds.), Life Cycle Assessment in the Chemical Product Chain: Challenges, Methodological Approaches and Applications (pp. 125–143). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34424-5\_6
- Marazuela, M. A., Vázquez-Suñé, E., Ayora, C., & García-Gil, A. (2020). Towards more sustainable brine extraction in salt flats: Learning from the Salar de Atacama. Science of The Total Environment, 703, 135605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135605
- Marazuela, M. A., Vázquez-Suñé, E., Ayora, C., García-Gil, A., & Palma, T. (2019a). Hydrodynamics of salt flat basins: The Salar de Atacama example. Science of The Total Environment, 651, 668–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.190
- Marazuela, M. A., Vázquez-Suñé, E., Ayora, C., García-Gil, A., & Palma, T. (2019b). The effect of brine pumping on the natural hydrodynamics of the Salar de Atacama: The damping capacity of salt flats. Science of The Total Environment, 654, 1118–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.196
- Maria, A. D., Elghoul, Z., & Acker, K. V. (2022). Environmental assessment of an innovative lithium production process. Procedia CIRP, 105, 672–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2022.02.112
- Mat, N. C., Lou, Y., & Lipscomb, G. G. (2014). Hollow fiber membrane modules. Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering, 4, 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2014.01.002
- Moni, S. M., Mahmud, R., High, K., & Carbajales-Dale, M. (2020). Life cycle assessment of emerging technologies: A review. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24(1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12965
- Moran, B. J., Boutt, D. F., McKnight, S. V., Jenckes, J., Munk, L. A., Corkran, D., & Kirshen, A. (2022). Relic Groundwater and Prolonged Drought Confound Interpretations of Water Sustainability and Lithium Extraction in Arid Lands. Earth's Future, 10(7), e2021EF002555. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021EF002555
- Morgan-Sagastume, F., Heimersson, S., Laera, G., Werker, A., & Svanström, M. (2016). Technoenvironmental assessment of integrating polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) production with services of municipal wastewater treatment. Journal of Cleaner Production, 137, 1368–1381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.08.008

- Myerson, A. S., Erdemir, D., & Lee, A. Y. (Eds.). (2019). Handbook of Industrial Crystallization (3rd ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781139026949
- Nasrollahi, N., Ghalamchi, L., Vatanpour, V., & Khataee, A. (2021). Photocatalytic-membrane technology: A critical review for membrane fouling mitigation. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, 93, 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2020.09.031
- Parvatker, A. G., & Eckelman, M. J. (2019). Comparative Evaluation of Chemical Life Cycle Inventory Generation Methods and Implications for Life Cycle Assessment Results. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 7(1), 350–367. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b03656
- Pasta, M., Battistel, A., & Mantia, F. L. (2012). Batteries for lithium recovery from brines. Energy & Environmental Science, 5(11), 9487–9491. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2EE22977C
- Peters, J. F., Baumann, M., Zimmermann, B., Braun, J., & Weil, M. (2017). The environmental impact of Li-Ion batteries and the role of key parameters – A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 67, 491–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.08.039
- Piccinno, F., Hischier, R., Seeger, S., & Som, C. (2016). From laboratory to industrial scale: A scale-up framework for chemical processes in life cycle assessment studies. Journal of Cleaner Production, 135, 1085–1097. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.164

Professional Paper (Professional Paper). (2017). [Professional Paper].

- Quilaqueo, M., Seriche, G., Barros, L., González, C., Romero, J., Ruby-Figueroa, R., Santoro, S., Curcio, E., & Estay, H. (2022). Water recovery assessment from hypersaline lithium-rich brines using Membrane Distillation-Crystallization. Desalination, 537, 115887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2022.115887
- Quinteros-Condoretty, A. R., Albareda, L., Barbiellini, B., & Soyer, A. (2020). A Socio-technical Transition of Sustainable Lithium Industry in Latin America. Procedia Manufacturing, 51, 1737–1747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2020.10.242
- Quist-Jensen, C. A., Ali, A., Mondal, S., Macedonio, F., & Drioli, E. (2016). A study of membrane distillation and crystallization for lithium recovery from high-concentrated aqueous solutions. Journal of Membrane Science, 505, 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.01.033
- Reducing the impact of extractive industries on groundwater resources Analysis. (n.d.). IEA. Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www.iea.org/commentaries/reducing-the-impact-of-extractiveindustries-on-groundwater-resources
- Reyna, J. L., & Chester, M. V. (2015). The Growth of Urban Building Stock: Unintended Lock-in and Embedded Environmental Effects. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 19(4), 524–537. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12211
- Romero, H., Méndez, M., & Smith, P. (2012). Mining Development and Environmental Injustice in the Atacama Desert of Northern Chile. Environmental Justice, 5(2), 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2011.0017

- Sadhukhan, J., & Christensen, M. (2021). An In-Depth Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Lithium-Ion Battery for Climate Impact Mitigation Strategies. 19.
- Sandin, G., Røyne, F., Berlin, J., Peters, G. M., & Svanström, M. (2015). Allocation in LCAs of biorefinery products: Implications for results and decision-making. Journal of Cleaner Production, 93, 213– 221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.013
- Schaubroeck, T., Schrijvers, D., Schaubroeck, S., Moretti, C., Zamagni, A., Pelletier, N., Huppes, G., & Brandão, M. (2022). Definition of Product System and Solving Multifunctionality in ISO 14040– 14044: Inconsistencies and Proposed Amendments—Toward a More Open and General LCA Framework. Frontiers in Sustainability, 3. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/frsus.2022.778100
- Schenker, V., Oberschelp, C., & Pfister, S. (2022). Regionalized life cycle assessment of present and future lithium production for Li-ion batteries [Preprint]. Engineering. https://doi.org/10.31223/X5TS7F
- Schomberg, A. C., Bringezu, S., & Flörke, M. (2021). Extended life cycle assessment reveals the spatiallyexplicit water scarcity footprint of a lithium-ion battery storage. Communications Earth & Environment, 2(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-020-00080-9
- Schrijvers, D. L., Loubet, P., & Sonnemann, G. (2016). Developing a systematic framework for consistent allocation in LCA. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 21(7), 976–993. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1063-3
- Schulze, R., Abbasalizadeh, A., Bulach, W., Schebek, L., & Buchert, M. (2018). An Ex-ante LCA Study of Rare Earth Extraction from NdFeB Magnet Scrap Using Molten Salt Electrolysis. Journal of Sustainable Metallurgy, 4(4), 493–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40831-018-0198-9
- Shi, C., Jing, Y., & Jia, Y. (2016). Solvent extraction of lithium ions by tri-n-butyl phosphate using a room temperature ionic liquid. Journal of Molecular Liquids, 215, 640–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2016.01.025
- Shibasaki, M., Warburg, N., & Eyerer, P. (n.d.). Upscaling effect and Life Cycle Assessment.
- Sigel, K., Klauer, B., & Pahl-Wostl, C. (2010). Conceptualising uncertainty in environmental decisionmaking: The example of the EU water framework directive. Ecological Economics, 69(3), 502– 510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.11.012
- Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. Journal of Business Research, 104, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039
- Song, J. F., Nghiem, L. D., Li, X.-M., & He, T. (2017). Lithium extraction from Chinese salt-lake brines: Opportunities, challenges, and future outlook. Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology, 3(4), 593–597. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7EW00020K
- Stamp, A. (2012). Environmental impacts of a transition toward e-mobility: The present and future role of lithium carbonate production. Journal of Cleaner Production, 9.

- Sun, X., Liu, Z., Zhao, F., & Hao, H. (2021). Global Competition in the Lithium-Ion Battery Supply Chain: A Novel Perspective for Criticality Analysis. Environmental Science & Technology, 55(18), 12180– 12190. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c03376
- Tarleton, E. S., & Wakeman, R. J. (2007). Solid/liquid separation: Equipment selection and process design (1. ed). Elsevier/Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Tecchio, P., Freni, P., De Benedetti, B., & Fenouillot, F. (2016a). Ex-ante Life Cycle Assessment approach developed for a case study on bio-based polybutylene succinate. Journal of Cleaner Production, 112, 316–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.07.090
- Tecchio, P., Freni, P., De Benedetti, B., & Fenouillot, F. (2016b). Ex-ante Life Cycle Assessment approach developed for a case study on bio-based polybutylene succinate. Journal of Cleaner Production, 112, 316–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.07.090
- Thonemann, N., Schulte, A., & Maga, D. (2020). How to Conduct Prospective Life Cycle Assessment for Emerging Technologies? A Systematic Review and Methodological Guidance. Sustainability, 12(3), 1192. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031192
- Tom Hegen—Aerial Photographer. (n.d.). Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www.tomhegen.com/
- Torres, W. R., Díaz Nieto, C. H., Prévoteau, A., Rabaey, K., & Flexer, V. (2020). Lithium carbonate recovery from brines using membrane electrolysis. Journal of Membrane Science, 615, 118416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118416
- Tranfield, D., Denyer, D., & Smart, P. (2003). Towards a Methodology for Developing Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review. British Journal of Management, 14(3), 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.00375
- Tsoy, N., Steubing, B., van der Giesen, C., & Guinée, J. (2020). Upscaling methods used in ex ante life cycle assessment of emerging technologies: A review. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 25(9), 1680–1692. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-020-01796-8
- Tung, H.-H. (Ed.). (2009). Crystallization of organic compounds: An industrial perspective. Wiley.
- van der Giesen, C., Cucurachi, S., Guinée, J., Kramer, G. J., & Tukker, A. (2020). A critical view on the current application of LCA for new technologies and recommendations for improved practice. Journal of Cleaner Production, 259, 120904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120904
- Van Driessche, A. E. S., Kellermeier, M., Benning, L. G., & Gebauer, D. (Eds.). (2017). New Perspectives on Mineral Nucleation and Growth. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45669-0
- van Oers, L., & Guinée, J. (2016). The Abiotic Depletion Potential: Background, Updates, and Future. Resources, 5(1), 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources5010016
- Vikström, H., Davidsson, S., & Höök, M. (2013). Lithium availability and future production outlooks. Applied Energy, 110, 252–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.04.005

- Wan Osman, W. N. A., Mat Nawi, N. I., Samsuri, S., Bilad, M. R., Wibisono, Y., Hernández Yáñez, E., & Md Saad, J. (2022). A Review on Recent Progress in Membrane Distillation Crystallization. ChemBioEng Reviews, 9(1), 93–109. https://doi.org/10.1002/cben.202100034
- Xu, P., Hong, J., Qian, X., Xu, Z., Xia, H., Tao, X., Xu, Z., & Ni, Q.-Q. (2021). Materials for lithium recovery from salt lake brine. Journal of Materials Science, 56(1), 16–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-020-05019-1
- Yadav, A., Labhasetwar, P. K., & Shahi, V. K. (2022). Membrane distillation crystallization technology for zero liquid discharge and resource recovery: Opportunities, challenges and futuristic perspectives. Science of The Total Environment, 806, 150692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150692
- Yang, Y., Okonkwo, E. G., Huang, G., Xu, S., Sun, W., & He, Y. (2021). On the sustainability of lithium ion battery industry – A review and perspective. Energy Storage Materials, 36, 186–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ensm.2020.12.019

# 8 Appendix

## 8.1 Native Brine Composition

Elemental Composition of Brine							
Element	Value	Unit	Value	Unit			
Na	7.66	wt%	2.78	t			
Ca	0	wt%	0.00	t			
К	2.12	wt%	0.77	t			
Mg	0.96	wt%	0.35	t			
Li	0.15	wt%	0.05	t			
Cl	15.97	wt%	5.79	t			
So	0	wt%	0.00	t			
В	0.06	wt%	0.02	t			
Total Molality	6.14	(mol salt, kg h20)	2.23	t			
		<b>Total Mass of Solutes</b>	11.99				
		Total Mass of Water	24.27				

Notes	Parameter	Unit	Value
module specification	Membrane module model	DDPT-BC	Q-10-20Z
module specification	Membrane inner diameter	mm	1.3/2.3
module specification	Membrane area inside	m²	20
module specification	Membrane pore size	μm	0.2
module specification	Module length	m	1,43
operational criteria	Feed brine circulation	lumen	lumen
operational criteria	Distillate flow circulation	shell	shell
operational criteria (must fit to the manufacturer range)	Feed brine flow	L/h	[variable]
operational criteria (must fit to the manufacturer range)	Distillate flow	L/h	[variable]
operational criteria (must fit to the manufacturer range)	Feed Temperature of brine input module	°C	50
	Feed Temperature of brine outlet module	°C	40
	Feed Temperature distillate input module	°C	20
operational criteria (must fit to the manufacturer range)	Feed Temperature distillate output module	°C	[variable]
Assumption	Water concentration of distillate	%	100

## 8.2 Membrane Module Specifications

### 8.3 Electrical Efficiencies and Coefficient of Performance

Assumption	COP (refrigeration performance)	-	5
Assumption	Efficiency of the electric Pump	%	80
Assumption	Efficiency of the electric heating	%	100
Assumption	Efficiency of the Heat Recovery	%	60

# 8.4 Chilean High Voltage Mix (Ecoinvent)

Inputs from technosphere: electricity/heat	Amount	Unit
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, deep geothermal   Cut	0.0008762817	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, hard coal   Cut-off, U	0.4318344715	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, hydro, run-of-river   Cu	0.3178432893	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, natural gas, combined	0.1124351651	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, natural gas, convention	0.0692098347	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, oil   Cut-off, U	0.0132467382	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, wind, <1MW turbine, c	0.0008581993	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  electricity production, wind, 1-3MW turbine,	0.0517531501	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  heat and power co-generation, biogas, gas e	0.0001450195	kWh
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  heat and power co-generation, wood chips, 6	0.0017978502	kWh
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	I
Electricity, high voltage {CL}  market for   Cut-off, U	0.0221473542	kWh

#### 8.5 LCI Dataset for Producing 1 kg PVDF (Route 1) (adapted from Hu et al., 2022) Table 4. Summary of LCI Data to Produce 1 kg of PVDF (Route 1)

process	reactants	amount (kg)	materials	database	amount (kg)	electricity (kW h)	data source
Route 1: synthesis of PVDF	R-132b	2.170	trichloroethylene	Ecoinvent 3	2.17	7.5516	stoichiometric calculations based on the study. <sup>63</sup>
			hydrogen fluoride	Ecoinvent 3	1.085		
			ultrapure water	Ecoinvent 3	0.217		
	hydrogen	0.13		Ecoinvent 3		30	stoichiometric calculations based on the study. <sup>62</sup>
	tri-isobutyl borane	0.1	butene	Ecoinvent 3	0.4782	12	stoichiometric calculations are based on the study of organometallic polymerization. <sup>61</sup> For the initiator, the calculations are based on the study. <sup>67</sup>
			decarbonized water	Ecoinvent 3	0.1536		
			sodium tetrahydridoborate	Ecoinvent 3	0.1		
			acetic acid	Ecoinvent 3	0.1		

Table 5. Summary of LCI Data to Produce 1 kg of PVDF (Route 2)

process	reactants	amount (kg)	materials	database	amount (kg)	electricity (kW h)	data source
Route 2: synthesis of PVDF	VDF	1.0652	activated carbon	Ecoinvent 3	0.1065	1.3097	stoichiometric calculations based on the study. <sup>64</sup>
			HFC-152a	Ecoinvent 3	1.0993		
			chlorine	Ecoinvent 3	25.9493		
			copper	Ecoinvent 3	0.0107		
			palladium	Ecoinvent 3	0.0001		
			nitrogen	ELCD	0.1332		
			hydrogen	Ecoinvent 3	0.2663		
			potassium hydroxide	Ecoinvent 3	0.0053		
			ultrapure water	Ecoinvent 3	0.0479		
			cadmium sulfate	Ecoinvent 3	0.1065		
	di- <i>tert</i> -butyl peroxide (DTBP)	0.0084	hydrogen peroxide	Ecoinvent 3	0.02107	0.00249	stoichiometric calculations based on the study. <sup>68</sup>
			sulfuric acid	Ecoinvent 3	0.01704		
			butene	Ecoinvent 3	0.0149		
			decarbonized water	Ecoinvent 3	0.0048		
			sodium hydroxide	Ecoinvent 3	0.00285		
			ultrapure water	Ecoinvent 3	0.04554		
			magnesium sulfate	Ecoinvent 3	0.00475		
	ultrapure water	3.0458		Ecoinvent 3		12.3691	stoichiometric calculations based on the study. <sup>69</sup>
	wax	0.0017		Ecoinvent 3			

### 8.6 Outlet Brine Composition

Outlet Brine Composition (%)	lon
.0009	Na+
.002	K+
9.96	Mg+2
4.06	Li+
0	Ca+2
1.62	B+3
0	SO4-2
49.82	Cl-